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Freedom of Information Act Request
U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement
500 12th Street SW, Stop 5009
Washington, DC 20536-5009
Attn: Catrina Pavlik-Keenan, FOIA Director

National Records Center (NRC)
Freedom of Information Act Division
P.O. Box 648010
Lee's Summit, MO 64064-5570

Freedom of Information Act Request
U.S. Department of Homeland Security
245 Murray Drive SW
STOP-0655
Washington, D.C. 20528-0655

Office of Civil Rights and Civil Liberties
U.S. Department of Homeland Security
Washington, D.C. 20528

Federal Law Enforcement Training Center (FLETC)
Freedom ofInformation Act Officer
Build #681, Suite l87B
Glynco, GA 31524

Re: Freedom of Information Act Request

To Whom It May Concern:

This is a request under the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. Sec. 552 ("ForA"), on
behalf of the Immigrant Defense Project ("IDP"), the Center for Constitutional Rights ("CCR"), and the
Hispanic Interest Coalition of Alabama ("RICA") (collectively "the Requesters") for information
regarding U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement agency ("ICE") and Department of Homeland
Security ("DRS") home-based enforcement operations. We ask that you please direct this request to all
appropriate offices and departments within ICE and DHS, including, but not limited to, the Office of
Civil Rights and Civil Liberties, the Office of Public Affairs, the Office of Detention Policy and
Planning, the Office of Detention Oversight, the Federal Law Enforcement Training Center and the
Office of State, Local and Tribal Coordination.

666 broadway, 7 fl, new york, ny 10012
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Purpose of Request

The purpose of this request is to obtain information for the public about ICE home enforcement
operations (defined below) and their impact on local communities. This information will enable the
public to monitor ICE home enforcement operations and ensure that the operations uphold individuals'
constitutional rights. ICE has been conducting home enforcement operations during the Obama
Administration as well as the Bush Administration.!

Little information is known to the public about ICE home enforcement operations under the Obama
Administration. ICE has released minimal, if any, information about its current guidelines and practices
for conducting home enforcement operations, including how decisions to initiate raids are made.
Information is also unavailable regarding the number of people that have been apprehended, arrested,
and/or detained from home enforcement operations since January 2009. Generally speaking, the impact
of home enforcement operations on families and children, particularly when children are present during
a home enforcement operation, is unclear. It is also unknown to the public who is targeted and how
those individuals are identified. Further, the public has no information about the constitutional
compliance of home enforcement operations and whether and to what extent people affected by home
enforcement operations are experiencing Fourth and Fifth Amendment violations and other abuses.
ICE's guidelines and practices for monitoring and enforcement of constitutional compliance, including
how complaints are handled, are unknown. If any investigations into misconduct during home
enforcement operations have been undertaken, the substance and outcomes of those investigations are
currently unavailable.

A. Definitions

1) Home enforcement operation(s). In this request, the term "home enforcement operations"
is defined as ICE enforcement operations in, at, or around homes or residences. "Home
enforcement operations" include, but may not be limited to, any ICE entry in, at, or around
any place of residence, including but not limited to houses, apartments, boarding houses,
rooming houses, shelters or motels where individuals reside, whether temporarily or
permanently. Includes any enforcement operation that involves entry into a place of
residence, and may include enforcement operations that also combine street arrests, entry into
a workplace, or enforcement at other locations.

2) Target(s). In this request, the term "target" is defined as an individual specifically sought for
enforcement in a home enforcement operation, who has been identified for enforcement by
ICE prior to arrival at the home.

3) Non-target(s) or collateral(s). In this request, the term "non-target" or "collateral" is
defined as any individual encountered in a home enforcement operation who is not a target,
and is apprehended, arrested, or otherwise subject to enforcement action by ICE.

4) Law Enforcement Agency. In this request, the term "Law Enforcement Agency" includes,
but is not limited to, any state, city, county, or local police agency, department of corrections,
sheriffs office, jail, or other holding facility.

I See Exhibit A, "Will Congress Bring My Husband Back?," New York Times, June 12,2013, and Exhibit B, "Letter from
Southern Poverty Law Center to Scott Sutterfield" and "Letter from Southern Poverty Law Center to Janet Napolitano."
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5) Record(s). In this request the term "Record(s)" includes, but is not limited to, all Records or
communications preserved in electronic or written form, such as correspondences, emails,
documents, data, videotapes, audio tapes, faxes, files, guidance, guidelines, evaluations,
instructions, analyses, memoranda, agreements, notes, orders, policies, procedures, legal
opinions, protocols, reports, rules, technical manuals, technical specifications, training
manuals, studies, or any other Record of any kind.

6) Database(s). In this request the term "Database(s)" includes, but is not limited to, all
Records that store, compile, or collect information, regardless of the format, size, or type of
program utilized. May include, but is not limited to, information contained in spreadsheet,
list, or chart format.

7) Complaints. In this request the term "complaint(s)" includes any expression of grievance,
allegation of misconduct, request for investigation, or request for disciplinary action related
to enforcement operations in homes made by any govermnental or non-governmental agency,
or by any individual. "Complaint(s)" includes but is not limited to Office of Civil Rights and
Civil Liberties, Office of Professional Responsibility, and Office of Principal Legal Adviser
complaints, informal complaints made by civilian individuals, including detainees or
prisoners in local, state or ICE facilities or IGSA contract facilities; complaints lodged by
law enforcement officers; internal complaints made by individuals employed by ICE, legal
complaints; and complaints made by other govermnental agencies or elected officials.

B. Acronyms

Law Enforcement Agency LEA

Federal Bureau ofInvestigation FBI
Denartment of Romeland Security DRS
Immigration and Customs Enforcement ICE
DRS Office of Civil Rights and Civil Liberties CRCL

Co Request for Information

1) Policies, Procedures, and Objectives

Any and all Records received, maintained, or created by any government agency or subdivision, related
to the policies, procedures, or objectives of home enforcement operations from January 20, 2009, to the
present. Such records include but are not limited to:

a. Overview Documents: policies, operating procedures, rules, internal policy guidance,
monitoring mechanisms, training materials and legal opinions or memoranda referencing
home enforcement operations or discussing the goals, objectives, function responsibility,
purpose, and implementation of home enforcement operations.

b. Identification of Targets: any and all Records related to how targets ofhome enforcement
operations are identified.
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i. Any and all Records related to how ICE decides whom to target in a home
enforcement operations. Any and all Records related to any and all classes or
categories of people targeted by home enforcement operations, including, but not
limited to, classes or categories based on gender, race, ethnicity, nationality,
employment status, violent criminal history, threat to the nation or community,
arrests, and/or sex-related offense.

ii. Any and all Records related to how ICE determines whether individuals targeted by
home enforcement operations have gang affiliations including but not limited to how
ICE defines gang membership or affiliation and how ICE determines that any target
may be a gang member or associate.

c. Rules, Protocols, & Procedures for Conducting Home Enforcement Operations: any and
all Records related to policies, rules, protocols, practices, or procedures for conducting home
enforcement operations.

i. Any Record containing guidance or procedures regarding ICE decision-making to
undertake a home enforcement operation, including but not limited to the decision­
making structure, process, and authority for deciding to undertake a home
enforcement operation and any and all required administrative approval processes.
Any Record related to the factors considered by ICE in deciding to undertake a home
enforcement operation. Any Record related to the individual(s), agent(s), or
official(s), group(s), committee(s), or sub-division(s) with authority to decide to
undertake a home enforcement operation. Any Record related to when ICE may
decide to undertake a home enforcement operation.

ii. Any and all factors used to determine when a home enforcement operation should be
conducted, including the specific date and time of the home enforcement operation.

iii. Any Record containing policies, rules, guidance, protocols, or procedures regarding
arrests ofnon-target individuals present during the home enforcement operation. Any
Record related to when ICE may apprehend or arrest non-targeted individuals during
a home enforcement operation and any factors considered in deciding when to arrest
non-targeted individuals.

iv. Any Record containing policies, rules, guidance, protocols, or procedures related to
minors under the age of 18 who may be present during a home enforcement
operation, including but not limited to rules, guidance, protocols, or procedures
related to: the arrest of minors; the conduct of home enforcement operations when
minors are present; the questioning of minors during home enforcement operations;
and for the custody of minors whose parents are apprehended and detained in home
enforcement operations.

v. Any Record containing policies, rules, guidance, protocols, or procedures related to
the use ofjudicial or administrative warrants. Any Record providing information
about the practices of obtaining or not obtaining judicial or administrative warrants
prior to conducting a home enforcement operation.

vi. Any Record containing policies, rules, guidance, protocols, or procedures related to
seeking consent from an occupant before entering a home. Any Record providing
information about the extent to which ICE requires consent to be obtained or permits
nonconsensual entry, including when consent is required, the type of consent
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required, whether consent must be informed, and the language in which consent may
be obtained.

vii. Any Record, including but not limited to legal memoranda, containing policies, rules,
guidance, protocols, or procedures related to ICE's definition of exigent
circumstances, what constitutes exigent circumstances, and when the exigent
circumstances exception to requirements for obtaining consent or a warrant before
entering a home may be invoked. Any Record providing information about the
practices of invoking the exigent circumstances exception to requirements for
obtaining consent or a warrant before entering a home.

d. Information Sharing, Gathering, & Management:

i. Any and all Records reflecting or memorializing ICE protocol for obtaining
information or data from any and all agencies that is used for home enforcement
operations, including but not limited to protocols for obtaining information or data
from LEAs, district attorney offices, parole offices, departments of corrections, and
probation offices. Any and all Records reflecting ICE protocol for requesting
information or data used for home enforcement operations from any and all
governmental agencies.

ii. Any and all Records reflecting or memorializing ICE protocol for use of post­
conviction relief motions to identify and target individuals in home enforcement
operations.

iii. Any and all Records reflecting or memorializing ICE protocol for use of the
Homeland Security Initiative Tip Form, and information gathered therein, to identify
targets of home enforcement operations.

iv. Any and all names of databases created or used by ICE to identify targets of home
enforcement operations, including databases supplied to ICE by other govermnent
agencies.

v. Any and all names of databases created or used by ICE for home enforcement
operations that identify or in any way indicate gang membership or gang affiliation of
individuals, including but not limited to databases created by other federal agencies or
LEAs and shared with ICE.

e. Performance Goals or Quotas: any and all Records reflecting, constituting, memorializing,
documenting, or concerning any ICE performance goals or quotas for arrests at national,
state, regional, and/or local levels, including but not limited to:

i. Any and all policy memoranda, emails, protocols, communications, or guidance that
supersedes the the Memorandum entitled "National Fugitive Operations Program:
Priorities, Goals, and Expectations" dated December 8, 20092

, the Memorandum
entitled "Civil Immigration Enforcement: Priorities for the Apprehension, Detention,
and Removal of Aliens" dated June 30, 20103

, and any policy memoranda, emails,
protocols, communications, or guidance used by Enforcement and Removal
Operations, Homeland Security Investigations, or any other branch of ICE.

2 Attached hereto as Exhibit C.
3 Attached hereto as Exhibit D.
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ii. Any and all policy memoranda, emails, protocols, communications, or guidance that
instruct agents, officers, or employees in methods of meeting such performance goals
or quotas, including but not limited to identifying additional targets through the Law
Enforcement Support Center and any of its programs, services, or initiatives; the
Secure Communities, the Criminal Alien Program, 287g, the Alien Absconder
Initiative, and the National Fugitive Operations Program; ICE Agreements of
Cooperation in Communities to Enhance Safety and Security ("ACCESS"), terrorism
watch lists, Deportable Alien Control System databases, Fugitive Case Management
System and Apprehension Reports, Enforce Alien Removal Module; and lists,
classifications, or categories generated by DHS or any other goverrunental agency or
local and state law enforcement agencies.

f. Misconduct: any and all Records related to ICE standards for conducting enforcement
operations in homes and documentation of and responses to misconduct during home
enforcement operations.

i. Any and all Records containing training materials, briefing, guidance, procedures,
rules, or other infonnational materials for ICE agents on compliance with
constitutional, statutory, regulatory, or other external rules.

ii. Any and all Records containing legal memoranda or briefing on the constitutional,
statutory, regulatory, or other legal rules for conducting home enforcement
operations, including but not limited to legal memoranda discussing or in any way
concerning the legal authority of ICE to conduct home enforcement operations in the
period before, during, and after the passage of HB56.

iii. Any and all Records related to ICE procedures, or practices for monitoring or plans to
monitor compliance of home enforcement operations with constitutional, statutory,
regulatory, or other legal rules.

iv. Any and all Records related to ICE protocols, procedures, or practices for monitoring
or plans to monitor compliance of home enforcement operations with ICE internal
policies, rules, protocols, procedures, or practices.

v. Any and all Records related to ICE policies, rules, protocols, processes, procedures,
or practices for receiving civilian complaints of misconduct during home enforcement
operations, including but not limited to any complaint fonn that supersedes the Civil
Right Complaint fonn that was last updated on March 15, 2011.4

vi. Any and all Records related to ICE policies, rules, protocols, procedures, or practices
for responding to complaints of misconduct during home enforcement operations,
including but not limited to complaints of constitutional violations.

2) Data & Statistical Information

Any and all Records, excluding Records from individual alien files, containing data or statistics
prepared, compiled, or maintained by ICE or any agency or subdivision thereof related to or pertaining
to individuals apprehended, arrested, and/or detained from home enforcement operations and any
misconduct during home enforcement operations alleged or disciplined beginning January 20, 2009
through the present. Unless otherwise specified, the requests below seek data or statistics from all

4 Attached hereto as Exhibit E.
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geographical areas that fall within the jurisdictions of the Buffalo, New York; New York, New York;
and New Orleans, Louisiana ICE field offices. Such Records should include, but not be limited to:

a. Home enforcement operations conducted: Any and all Records that contain data or
statistical information indicating the number of home enforcement operations undertaken by
ICE since January 20, 2009 broken out by year, the year(s) in which the home enforcement
operations were conducted, and the locations of the home enforcement operations.

b. Arrests in home enforcement operations in each county in New York State and in the
Alabama counties of Cherokee, Chilton, DeKalb, Jackson, Jefferson, Shelby, and
Tuscaloosa: Any and all Records that contain data or statistical information indicating the
number ofpeople arrested in home enforcement operations and the reasons stated for arrest.
Any and all records that provide a list of categories of data kept on individuals arrested. Any
and all Records documenting the zip codes in which arrests during home enforcement
operations take place. Any and all Records that contain data or statistical information
indicating the number of target arrests and/or the number of non-target arrests made in home
enforcement operations. Any and all Records that contain data or statistical information
indicating:

i. the number of children taken into ICE custody as a result of home enforcement
operations

ii. the number of minor children taken into the custody of local or state child protective
services agencies as a result of arrests of parents or custodians

iii. the number ofparents of minor children taken into ICE custody as a result of
enforcement operations in homes

iv. the number ofparents taken into ICE custody whose minor children are U.S. citizens.
v. the number of individuals arrested in home enforcement operations broken down by

race, ethoicity, nationality, gender, and/or age.
vi. the number of individuals arrested in home enforcement operations who are identified

on terrorism watch lists.
vii. the number of individuals arrested in home enforcement operations purported to be

members of gangs.
viii. the number of individuals arrested in home enforcement operations purported to be

associates or affiliates of gangs.
ix. the number of individuals arrested in home enforcement operations with violent crime

convictions (as defined by the FBI to include murder and non-negligent
manslaughter, forcible rape, robbery, and aggravated assault), with other felony
convictions, and with misdemeanor convictions between January 20, 2009 and the
present. See "FBI Violent Crime Definition," attached hereto as Exhibit G, broken
down by category.

x. the number of individuals arrested in home enforcement operations with prior orders
of removal and/or deportation (including those subject to expedited removal).

xi. the number of individuals arrested in home enforcement operations with convictions
for drug-related offenses, broken down by convictions for possession, intent to sell,
and trafficking.
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xii. the number of individuals arrested in home enforcement operations with convictions
related to sexual misconduct.

xiii. the number of individuals arrested in home enforcement operations who were
identified by, or using data from, Secure Communities, 287(g), or the Criminal Alien
Program, broken down by category.

xiv. the number of individuals arrested in home enforcement operations who were
identified by, or using data from, LEAs.

xv. the number of individuals arrested whose prior convictions were for crimes charged
prior to January I, 2003; the number of individuals whose prior convictions were for
crimes charged after January 1,2003; and the number of individuals who have prior
convictions but for whom ICE does not have information regarding the charge date.

c. Individuals detained and/or subject to removal proceedings in each county in New York
State and in the Alabama counties of Cherokee, Chilton, DeKalb, Jackson, Jefferson,
Shelby, and Tuscaloosa: Any and all Records that contain data or statistical information
indicating the numbers of individuals who were arrested in home enforcement operations and
who were:

i. placed in removal proceedings, including but not limited to expedited removal,
administrative removal, reinstatement of removal, and removal proceedings pursuant
to Section 240 of the INA, broken down by category

ii. detained and the length of their detentions, including but not limited to the number of
people subject to mandatory detention under 236(c) ofthe INA

iii. released on bond
iv. issued a bond; the number whose bond amount was set at $5000 or above; and the

number whose bond amount was set at $10,000 or above
v. granted prosecutorial discretion

vi. granted administrative closure
vii. granted any other form ofjudicial relief or legal status, broken down by type of relief

viii. removed.
ix. granted voluntary departure.

d. Landlord participation in home enforcement operations: Any and all Records that reflect
or constitute instances of coordination, collaboration, cooperation, or the sharing of
information between ICE and any private landlord, property manager, employer-based
housing management authority or public housing authority. Includes but may not be limited
to the provision of security services, access, and/or surveillance, or assistance in planning or
execution of a home enforcement operation, by a landlord, property manager, or public
housing authority.

e. Contraband: Any and all Records that contain information related to or documenting illegal
substances, contraband, or illegal weapons found and/or collected in home enforcement
operations.

f. Misconduct: Any and all Records that contain data or statistical information related to
misconduct of ICE agents during home enforcement operations, including but not limited to
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information related to misconduct for violations of constitutional, statutory, regulatory, or
internal standards, or for other abuses. Records may include, but are not limited to:

i. Any and all Records containing information, including but not limited to narrative
information, statistical information, or interviews, on complaints, reports, lawsuits, or
allegations of misconduct by ICE agents during home enforcement operations.

ii. Any and all Records containing data or statistical information on investigations into
misconduct by ICE agents during home enforcement operations.

iii. Any and all Records that contain data or statistical information on the number of ICE
agents that have been subject to investigations or disciplinary proceedings.

iv. Any and all Records that contain data or statistical information on the outcomes of
any and all disciplinary proceedings of ICE agents for misconduct during home
enforcement operations.

v. Any and all Records that contain data or statistical information on investigations of
misconduct during home enforcement operations.

vi. Any and all Records related to DHS Office of Civil Rights and Civil Liberties
handling of misconduct, or allegations of misconduct, during home enforcement
operations. Includes but may not be limited to gathering of information, issuance of
memoranda or guidance, investigations, reports, or inquiries made by CRCL related
to home enforcement operations. Any and all Records held at or by CRCL related to
home enforcement operations.

vii. Any and all Records related to disciplinary action taken against individual officers for
abuses or misconduct during home enforcement operations, included but not limited
to disciplinary action taken for violations of constitutional limitations or for
violations of or deviance from internal ICE rules, protocols, procedures, or practices.

g. Supervision of home raids: Any and all Records that contain information indicating the
names and/or titles of ICE agents who supervised enforcement operations in homes. Any and
all Records that contain information indicating the names and/or titles of ICE agents who in
any way participated in the planning, coordination, or overseeing of home enforcement
operations.

D. Format of Production

Please search for responsive records regardless of format, medium, or physical characteristics, and
including electronic records. Please provide the requested documents in the following format:

• Saved on a CD, CD-ROM or DVD;
• In PDF or TIF format wherever possible;
• Electronically searchable wherever possible;
• Each paper record in a separately saved file;
• "Parent-child" relationships maintained, meaning that the requester must be able to

identifY the attachments with emails;
• Any data records in native format (i.e. Excel spreadsheets in Excel);
• Emails should include BCC and any other hidden fields;
• With any other metadata preserved.
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E. The Requesters

The Centerfor Constitutional Rights ("CCR'') is a non-profit, public interest, legal, and public
education organization that engages in litigation, public advocacy, and the production of publications in
the fields of civil and international human rights. CCR's diverse dockets include litigation and advocacy
around immigration detention, post-9/11 immigration enforcement policies, policing, and racial and
ethnic profiling. CCR is a member of immigrant rights networks nationally and provides legal support
to immigrant rights movements. One ofCCR's primary activities is the publication of newsletters,
know-you-rights handbooks, legal analysis of current immigration law issues, and other similar
materials for public dissemination. These are other materials are available through CCR's
Development, Communications, and Education & Outreach Departments. CCR operates a website,
www.ccrjustice.org, which addresses the issues on which the Center works. The website includes
material on topical civil and human rights issues and material concerning CCR's work. All of this
material is freely available to the public. In addition, CCR regularly issues press releases and operates a
listserv of over 50,000 members and issues "action alerts" that notify supporters and the general public
about developments and operations pertaining to CCR's work. CCR staff members often serve as
sources for journalist and media outlets, including on immigrant rights.

The Hispanic Interest Coalition ("HICA'') is a non-profit, public interest, and public education
organization dedicated to the social, civic and economic integration of Hispanic families and individuals
in Alabama. RICA engages and empowers Alabama's Hispanic community and its numerous cultures
as an economic and civic integrator, social-resource cormector, and statewide educator. HICA has
published and distributed over 25,000 Bienvenidos a Birmingham resource guides, the first
comprehensive Spanish-language resource guide for Birmingham. Through relationships established
with state and national organizations including the Alabama Coalition for Immigrant Justice, the
National Council of La Raza, The Mexican American Legal and Education Defense Fund, The National
Immigration Forum, The National Immigration Law Center and the Center for Community Change,
HICA has been involved in advocacy and public education at the national, state, and local levels.

The Immigrant Defense Project ("IDP'') is a non-profit organization whose mission is to promote
fundamental fairness for immigrants accused or convicted of crimes. IDP seeks to minimize the harsh
and disproportionate immigration consequences of contact with the criminal justice system by I)
working to transform unjust deportation laws and policies and 2) educating and advising immigrants,
their criminal defenders, and other advocates. IDP disseminates information about the immigration
system to the public in accessible ways and is a leader in providing training and support for legal
practitioners and community members. IDP's education efforts have included developing a 1500+ page
manual about the criminal-immigration system and designing and presenting a curriculum on the
criminal-immigration system.

F. Fee Waiver

The Requesters are entitled to a fee waiver pursuant to 5 U.S.C.(a)(4)(A)(iii) and 6 C.F.R. §5.11(k) on
the grounds that "disclosure ofthe requested records is in the public interest because it is likely to
contribute significantly to the public understanding of the activities or operations of the govemment and
is not primarily in the commercial interest of the requester[s]." 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(iii); see also 6
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C.F.R: § 5.l1(k) (records furnished without charge if the infonnation is in the public interest, and
disclosure is not in the commercial interest of institution). See, e.g., McClellan Ecological v. Carlucci,
835 F.2d 1282, 1285 (9th Cir. 1987). Requesters meet the requirements of6 C.F.R. § 5.lI(k) because
the subject of the request concerns the operations or activities ofthe government; the disclosure of the
information is likely to contribute to a significant public understanding of govemment operations or
activities due to the requesters' expertise in the subject area and ability to convey the infonnation; the
Requesters' primary interest is in disclosure; and they have no commercial interest in the information. In
addition, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(iii), the Requesters qualify as a "representatives of the
news media," defined as "any person or entity that gathers infonnation of potential interest to a segment
of the public, uses its editorial skills to turn the raw materials into a distinct work, and distributes that
work to an audience." 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(ii).

As described in Part E above, the Requesters are non-profit organizations dedicated to civil rights,
human rights, and immigrant rights, and have a proven track-record of compiling and disseminating
infonnation and reports to the public about government functions and activities, including the
government's record and position on immigrants' rights and policy matters. The Requesters have
undertaken this work in the public interest and not for any private commercial interest. Similarly, the
primary purpose of this FOIA request is to obtain infonnation to further the public's understanding of
federal immigration enforcement actions and policies. Access to this information is crucial for the
Requesters and the communities they serve to evaluate immigration enforcement actions and their
potential detrimental efforts.

The public has an interest in knowing about the manner in which ICE conducts home enforcement
operations, including how decisions to initiate raids are made, what policies and guidelines govern ICE
agents' conduct, and how ICE involves state and local entities in such actions. The public also has an
interest in knowing the number ofpeople that have been apprehended, arrested, and/or detained from
home enforcement operations since January 2009 and the impact on families and children. Further, the
public has an interest in knowing whether and to what extent people affected by home enforcement
operations are experiencing Fourth Amendment violations and other abuses; ICE's guidelines and
practices for monitoring and enforcement of constitutional compliance; and how complaints of and
investigations of misconduct are handled. The records sought in this request will infonn the public of
the scope of ICE's home enforcement operations, their effect on public safety, and the manner in which
ICE holds itself and its agents accountable for complaints of constitutional misconduct.

As stated above, the Requesters have no commercial interest in this matter. The Requesters will make
any infonnation that they receive as a result of this FOIA request available to the public, including the
press, at no cost. Disclosure in this case therefore meets the statutory criteria, and a fee waiver would
fulfill Congress' legislative intent in amending FOIA. See Judicial Watch Inc. v. Rossotti, 326 F.3d 1309
(D.C. Cir. 2003) ("Congress amended FOIA to ensure that it be 'liberally construed in favor ofwaivers
of noncommercial requesters. "').

In the alternative, we request a limitation of processing fees pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(ii)(II).
("[F]ees shall be limited to reasonable standard charges for document duplication when records are not
sought for commercial use and the request is made by . .. a representative of the news media."). See
also 6 C.F.R: § 5.l1(d). Ifno fee waiver is granted and the fees exceed $250.00, please contact the
Requesters' undersigned counsel to obtain consent to incur additional fees.
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G. Expedited Processing

The Requesters are entitled to expedited processing of this request because there is a "compelling need"
for the information. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E)(i)(I). A "compelling need" is established when there exists
an "urgency to inform the public concerning actual or alleged Federal Government activity," when the
requester is a "person primarily engaged in disseminating information," 6 C.F.R. § 5.5(d)(ii).

There is an urgent need to inform the public of the policies, procedures, guidelines, action, responses,
instructions and data regarding ICE's home enforcement operations. Courts have found that the manner
in which ICE has conducted home enforcement operations violated the Fourth Amendment,S yet little
information is available to the public regarding current guidance in conducting home operations or
accountability for complaints of misconduct. The number of Fugitive Operations Teams ("FOTs"), the
entity responsible for many operations in homes, has increased from 8 in 2003 to 129 in 2013. In FY
2012, these teams alone accounted for more than 37,000 arrests.6 As ICE continues to conduct home
enforcement operations across the country, the public has an urgent need to know how ICE chooses
targets, conducts operations, and holds its agents accountable for constitutional violations.

H. Certification & Conclusion

The Requester certifies that the above information is true and correct to the best of the Requesters'
knowledge. See 6 C.F.R. § 5.5(d)(3). If this Request is denied in whole or in part, the Requesters ask
that,the Department of Homeland Security and ICE justify all deletions by reference to specific
exemptions ofFOIA. The Requester expects DHS and ICE to release all segregable portions of
otherwise exempt material, and reserves the right to appeal a decision to withhold any records or to deny
the within application for expedited processing and waiver of fees.

Please furnish all applicable Records to:
Ghita Schwarz, Center for Constitutional Rights, 666 Broadway, i h Floor, New York, NY 10012.

If you have any questions regarding the processing ofthis request, please contact Ghita Schwarz at (212)
614-6445, or Ian Head at (212) 614-6470. Thank you for your consideration.

~lA-J
Ghita Schwarz, Esq.
Center for Constitutional Rights
666 Broadway, i h Floor
New York, NY 10012
gschwarz@ccrjustice.org

On Behalfof the Requesters

5 See. e.g., Sicajau Cotzojayv. Holder, 2013 U.S. App. LEXIS 15626 (2d Cir., July 31, 2013); Pretzantzin v. Holder, 2013
U.S. App. LEXIS 15627 (2d Cir. July 31, 2013).
6 See Exhibit F, "Fact Sheet: ICE Fugitive Operations Teams," available at
http://www.ice.gov/newsllibrary/factsheets/fugops.htm.
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APPENDIX B 	 ICE RAID TOOLKIT		

Appendix B 

Reports of raids collected by IDP, broken down by 
the identified ICE tactic, demonstrating the range  
of strategies used in their enforcement actions. 

Contents
These summaries reflect a sample of the hundreds of ICE arrests reported to  

IDP between 2013 and 2016, highlighting different problematic aspects of ICE 

raids and community arrests:  

p. 1	 A small sample of the broad range of people targeted by ICE, which 

includes vulnerable community members

p. 8	 The use of force and threats during home raids

p. 12	 The use of deception and ruses during home raids, organized by ruse:
.. “Need to talk to victim of identity theft”
.. “Looking for criminal ‘suspect’ believed to be in the house”
.. “Want help with a criminal investigation”
.. “Need to clear up a court compliance issue”

p. 23	 The use of deception to lure people into public spaces

p. 27	 The use of gratuitous or excessive searches once inside the home

p. 32	 The impact on people who were not the target where ICE agents:
.. Unnecessarily scrutinize the identity and documents of non-targets
.. Involve non-targets in carrying out raids, often using intimidation, 

hostility and/or deception
.. Conducted raids involving or impacting children in the home

Some reports involved more than one problematic ICE tactic; these appear in 

multiple sections and generally were edited to highlight the relevant issue in 

that section. For stories with full names, IDP has received permission to use the 

information in the materials as such.



ICE Raids 
The broad range of people targeted, including 

vulnerable community members

The following are a sample of reports that reflect how ICE targets a wide range of people in their 
enforcement actions, including those who are highly vulnerable due to serious medical 
conditions and those who play central roles in their families and communities. 

Story 28 (CSM): ​Days before Christmas 2015, around 5:45am, CSM was leaving his house in 
Long Island, NY when agents detained him.  CSM had just backed out of his driveway when his 
car was blocked by two unmarked cars.  7 to 8 officers in bulletproof vests yelled at him to get 
out of the car, holding guns and flashlights since it was still dark outside.  He got out of the car 
and they detained him.  CSM had come to the U.S. as a green card holder when he was 11 
years old.  He got into trouble with law while in college, ending up with 2 drug convictions as a 
result.  He was ordered deported while incarcerated and then was released in 2005 under an 
order of supervision by ICE.  He completed parole early because of good behavior and since he 
had completed all mandated programs.  He returned to his U.S. citizen wife and continued 
raising their 4 U.S. citizen children.  He maintained steady employment, became a volunteer 
firefighter, regularly attended church, and bought a house.  His children became reflections of 
his hard work, as two of them volunteered at the Fire Department and his 13-year-old daughter 
was an honor roll student attending a STEM (Science Technology Engineering Math) program 
at a prestigious local university.  His immediate family was in the U.S., including his U.S. citizen 
mother as well as his brother, who had completed numerous operations with the U.S. military. 
When ICE arrested CSM, he had been reporting dutifully to DHS for a decade and had never 
been in trouble with the law since being released from incarceration.  He was detained at a jail 
in NJ briefly and the facility would not let his family see him for Christmas because officials 
claimed he had not been there long enough to receive visitors.  Shortly thereafter, CSM was 
moved to another facility and deported. 

Story 39 (RWB): ​In June 2014, ICE agents detained RWB outside of the family homeless 
shelter in New York City where he was living at the time with his partner and children.  RWB 
was came to the U.S. as a green card holder in 1989.  He had worked at a packing facility for a 
number of years but he and his partner did not have enough money for stable housing.  So, in 
the months before ICE detained him, the family lived in a shelter and saved money to rent an 
apartment.  When ICE detained RWB, his oldest son was 1 and both upset and confused by the 
sudden loss of his father.  The agents arrested him 5 days prior to the birth of his second son, 
leaving RWB’s partner on her own to give birth and take care of three young children.  He was 
then detained in an immigration jail, preventing him from meeting his newborn and taking part in 
the lives of his children. 

Story 40 (JD):​ In March 2015, around 2am, ICE agents went to a shelter in Brooklyn, NY to 
detain JD.  JD was born in Haiti and violently assaulted there before moving to the U.S. as a 



green card holder nearly 2 decades before the raid.  The shelter in which he resided provided 
transitional housing for mentally ill adult men experiencing homelessness.  The agents lied and 
claimed that they were police who had to bring JD to court to discuss an open warrant.  They 
told him it would not take long and promised he would be back in his bed soon.  Since JD 
thought he was returning, he left his belongings behind, including identification documents, 
pictures of his children and all of his clothes.  Once they arrived at the federal building, the 
agents revealed they were immigration authorities.  They said he would be held in ICE custody 
pending his removal proceedings and, as a result, would have to fight deportation without any of 
his important belongings. 
 
Story 41 (FWC): ​ In January 2015, 2 ICE agents went to a supportive housing residence for 
people diagnosed with mental illnesses.  They spoke to the security guards who were at the 
front entrance and said they were looking for FWC.  The guards gave them FWC’s room 
number.  The agents knocked on FWC’s door and said he had 15 minutes to get dressed and 
ready before he had to go with them.  The agents then handcuffed FWC in the lobby and 
claimed FWC would be back soon.  FWC was born in Central America and came to the U.S. as 
a green card holder when he was 17 years old.  He married a U.S. citizen and they had 4 
children together.  While FWC stayed with his wife and children periodically, he had lived in the 
supervised residence for years before ICE picked him up where he received medication and 
support for his mental health treatment.  FWC was held by ICE but eventually released after 
filing a federal habeas petition.  He is still fighting deportation. 
 
Story 71 (YCC):​ In November 2014, ICE agents detained YCC at her Brooklyn, NY home.  YCC 
was born in Honduras.  She came to the U.S. in 1991 as a green card holder when she was just 
13 years old.  At 19, YCC fell in love for the first time with a man who was abusive and 
controlling.  She was with him for 7 years and it was during that time she was arrested in VA.  In 
2005, she pled guilty to 2 felony counts of embezzlement in state court and received a 
suspended sentence, probation and no jail time.  After her plea, her boyfriend stole her rent 
money and abandoned her; so, she moved back to NY to rebuild her life.  She began legal 
assistant classes with the goal of becoming a paralegal.  Finding work was difficult because of 
her record but she persisted.  She worked at a medical office and then as an assistant at a law 
office.  Her employer and co-workers often told her she was a pleasure to work with and a hard 
worker.  Nearly 10 years later, the ICE raid disrupted YCC’s full life.  Her mother, with whom she 
lived, had several health issues and was retired.  She relied on YCC’s support to maintain her 
medical regimen and cover financial costs for the household.  As they were very close, YCC’s 
detention was especially difficult for her mother.  Moreover, YCC could not imagine returning to 
Honduras, as her siblings, aunts and uncles all lived in the U.S.; her only family member who 
remained in Honduras was an uncle who was kidnapped and killed in 2012.  YCC was detained 
by ICE and eventually released after filing a federal habeas petition.  She is still fighting 
deportation. 
 
Story 80 (RWN): ​In July 2016, ICE agents posing as “police” called RWN’s phone and said they 
wanted to inspect his car to see if it was in an accident.  Knowing he was not involved in an 

 



accident, RWN confidently made an appointment to meet with them at his job in Queens, NY 
where ICE agents immediately detained him for removal proceedings.  ICE sought to deport 
RWN for 2 drug convictions from the early 1990s.  Nearly 25 years later, RWN had no new 
convictions and transformed his life, which involved becoming the sole breadwinner for his 
growing family.  RWN, a green card holder who had lived in the U.S. for over 20 years, had an 
extensive network in the U.S., including his U.S. citizen mother and 5 siblings.  In addition, he 
had been married to his U.S. citizen wife for 12 years and together they had two children, ages 
12 and 4 months.  At the time of the raid, their youngest child, who was born 2 months 
premature, had been home for only a few weeks after being released from the neonatal 
intensive care unit (NICU).  As the result of the sudden, unexpected ICE raid, his wife had to 
apply for public benefits, including Medicaid and food stamps, for the first time ever.  At the time 
of publication, RWN was still fighting deportation. 
 
Story 81 (JRO):​ In March 2015, ICE agents detained JRO in front of his New York City home 
and put him into removal proceedings for 2 drug convictions that took place over a decade prior 
when JRO was 19 years old.  At the time of the raid, JRO was the sole provider for his family, as 
his U.S. citizen wife of 10 years stayed home to take care of their 4 U.S. citizen children, ages 
19, 9 and 4-year-old twins.  He also was an engaged father, spearheading family outings and 
taking the children to extracurricular activities.  He had been working as the superintendent of 
multiple apartment buildings for 7 years, with his employer stating that JRO was trustworthy, 
hardworking and a model employee who had earned the respect of his co-workers and 
residents of the buildings.  With JRO’s hard-earned salary, the family had recently been able to 
purchase a home and a car.  JRO was also able to support his wife going back to school and 
pay for his 19-year-old step-daughter to attend college.  As the result of the raid, the family 
could not imagine how they would be able to pay their bills and his step-daughter had to drop 
out of school.  At the time of publication, JRO was still fighting deportation. 
 
Story 98 (OHA):​ In May 2014, ICE agents went to a home in upstate NY.  OHA was heading to 
work and, as she got into her car, a black Yukon pulled up and blocked her in.  She identified 
herself to the officers and they immediately arrested her.  She started crying as they put her 
right into the back of the ICE vehicle.  OHA had lived in the U.S. since the 1980s and was a 
green card holder.  Her sole conviction was for a drug sale that was tied into an addiction she 
suffered to painkillers and her relationship with a boyfriend who was involved in drugs.  She 
agreed to participate in drug diversion court and successfully completed treatment.  Two months 
later, she was clean and thought that was all behind her when ICE showed up.  OHA was 
deported about a month after the ICE raid.  In the months that followed, she attempted suicide 
and was diagnosed with a mental illness, but was able to maintain her sobriety and eventually 
find employment.  
 
Story 103 (KWP):​ In January 2014, ICE agents raided a homeless shelter for men diagnosed 
with mental illnesses and detained KWP, a green card holder who had lived in the U.S. since he 
was 12 years old.  A lawyer tried to meet with KWP about representation but KWP initially 
refused.  Once they met, it became clear that KWP had long-standing mental health issues. 

 



Two months later, after an evaluation, a doctor concluded that KWP was not competent to 
proceed.  In May 2014, the immigration court held a hearing and determined that KWP was not 
legally competent to proceed.  After multiple adjournments for judicial deliberation and a failed 
attempt to resolve the case with the government’s consent, an immigration judge closed the 
case in October 2014 so that KWP could receive proper mental health treatment.  After 10 
months of detention in an immigration jail, KWP’s condition had clearly worsened but he was 
finally released.  The shelter where he had lived helped him secure long-term supervised 
supportive housing that would help KWP maintain treatment compliance and improve his mental 
health.  ICE still required that KWP additionally check-in with the agency regularly pursuant to 
an immigration order of supervision. 
 
Story 112 (HEN): ​In April 2012, ICE agents went to HEN’s home in New York City to deport her. 
HEN was a green card holder at the time and the mother of a 7-year-old daughter.  Shortly after 
arriving in the U.S., HEN was identified as the victim of human trafficking, with the trafficker in 
her country of birth threatening her and her daughter if she returned.  She eventually received a 
visa for victims of trafficking.  In the years that followed, HEN pled guilty to non-violent 
convictions related to control exerted by the trafficker, who was demanding money and 
threatening harm.  She received her green card in 2010 and ICE agents detained her at home 
with her 7-year-old daughter present in 2012. 
 
Story 114 (JAT):​ In 2006, JAT fled Central America as a young adult out of fear for his safety. 
He eventually married and became the primary breadwinner for his wife and 2 children, ages 5 
and 3.  In March 2016, ICE agents sought him out for deportation in Southern California based 
on his sole conviction for driving under the influence of alcohol.  They went to his previous 
residence at 5:40am and asked the property manager to call JAT.  On that call, they claimed 
they were police who needed to review paperwork showing he had completed DUI classes. 
Feeling confident about his compliance, JAT agreed to meet and was handcuffed immediately, 
thrown to the ground and detained.  Recalling that day, JAT regrets not waking his children up 
to say goodbye, as he thought he would show paperwork and return home.  JAT still faces 
deportation and has a pending application for a U visa, as he was the victim of an assault.  
 
Story 119 (ARV):​ In May 2014, ARV’s 16-year-old daughter crossed the U.S. border, fleeing 
from Honduras.  She was placed in a shelter for minors and they contacted ARV to retrieve his 
daughter.  ARV went to Texas and submitted fingerprints to verify his identity.  2 weeks later, 
ICE agents came to his home in New York and detained him for removal proceedings in front of 
his wife, 6-year old U.S. citizen daughter, and 9-year-old U.S. citizen daughter.  ARV’s sole 
conviction was for driving under the influence of alcohol 10 years prior for which he completed 
mandated classes. 
 
Story 121 (GM):​ On August 1, 2014, around 6am, ICE agents detained GM at home in Long 
Island, NY.  GM was born in Ecuador and came to the United States at 6 years old as a green 
card holder.   He grew up entirely in the United States, marrying his high school sweetheart and 
having 3 children and a grandchild -- all U.S. citizens.  In the 1990s, GM pled guilty to 3 

 



non-violent offenses for which he completed an intensive therapeutic program while 
incarcerated designed to promote successful reintegration into the community.  In the two 
decades since that time period, GM worked as an electrician, supported his wife and children, 
bought a home, and spent time with his large extended family, including a son-in-law in the 
military. 
 
Story 124 (GIL): ​In October 2015, ICE agents arrested GIL at home early in the morning in 
Manhattan, NY.  GIL, who was 57 years old, had lived in the U.S. for nearly 30 years.  He 
resided in supervised community supportive housing for people with mental illnesses who have 
HIV/AIDS.  At the facility, workers ensured that residents were medication compliant and did not 
display any acute symptoms of mental illness.  At the time of the raid, GIL’s treatment 
compliance was also monitored by a mental health court.  The ICE agents who arrived talked to 
a social worker on duty and claimed they needed to take GIL for something related to a 
mistaken identity.  The agents then went to GIL’s room/studio where they immediately detained 
him, ripping GIL away from the significant support and comprehensive medical care that helped 
him maintain a necessary but complicated medical regimen.  ICE insisted on holding GIL in a 
jail for months, even as he required surgery for serious medical issues that led him to have to 
use a catheter.  After significant advocacy, an Immigration Judge ordered GIL’s release in April 
2016 so he could resume intensive community care. 
 
Story 128 (LAS):​ In March 2015, 4 ICE agents detained LAS at his home in New York City after 
harassing and searching the apartment of a former roommate in Queens, NY.  In 2008, LAS 
served time for a felony conviction by completing a boot camp for non-violent offenders.  After 
release from criminal custody, ICE pursued deportation but proceedings were terminated. 
Thereafter, LAS rebuilt his life.  He married a U.S. citizen, became a homeowner and was 
steadily employed.  He and his wife could not understand why ICE came after him 7 years later 
without any warning, as he had worked at 26 Federal Plaza -- a federal building housing 
immigration authorities -- in 2011; traveled in and out of the country in 2012; and completed 
fingerprints for a replacement green card in 2015.  
 
Story 129 (BEA):​ In May 2015, ICE agents arrived early in the morning to a home in Staten 
Island, NY to deport BEA.  She had come to the U.S. as a refugee when she was 11 and, four 
years later, her father abandoned her and her siblings, returning to their country of birth.  At this 
tumultuous time, BEA got involved with a man who abused her and masterminded a scam that 
left her with two convictions for petit larceny and possession of a forged instrument for which 
she completed probation.  Years later, BEA was a single mother and suffering from a severe 
chronic disease that forced her to be hospitalized regularly.  When ICE agents detained her, 
BEA had recently had surgery and still had an open wound on her side, a fact which became 
clear as agents patted her down at home.  Despite knowing she was sick, ICE detained BEA for 
months in a jail where she deteriorated.  After significant advocacy, BEA was finally released 
but immediately admitted to a local hospital where she was placed on life support because of 
her poor health.  
 

 



Story 131 (REG):​ In early 2014, ICE agents went to the Bronx, NY apartment of REG to deport 
him for two pleas to drug offenses from over a decade before the raid -- for which he received a 
sentence of probation and no jail time.  REG, a green card holder for over a decade, had never 
been arrested since then; so, his family members were stunned that ICE would show up at his 
door out of nowhere after so many years.  When ICE agents arrived, it became clear that REG 
had serious medical issues, including limited mobility and being legally blind.  In addition, REG 
suffered from kidney problems and seizures.  While ICE did not detain REG, they continued to 
pursue his deportation. 
 
Story 137 (ANZ):​ In April 2015, ICE agents went to a home in Manhattan, NY at 5:30am.  When 
they arrived, they told ANZ, a 61-year-old disabled man, to get dressed and said they were 
going to take him due to a criminal problem he had in the 1990s.  ANZ, a long-time green card 
holder, could not understand why immigration authorities were going after him now after all of 
these years.  He explained to the agents that he suffered from depression and they allowed him 
to take his medication just before handcuffing him.  ANZ is still in removal proceedings as of the 
time of this report. 
 
Story 169 (VEN):​ In early March 2016, VEN was at a friend’s home in Williamstown, NY when 3 
agents appeared and said they were going to detain VEN without showing any paperwork.  VEN 
was 67 years old at the time of the raid and as VEN’s wife cried when recounting the raid, the 
agents arrested him so quickly, “They didn’t even let him take his teeth!” 
 
Story 207 (NA):​ In May 2016, ICE agents detained NA on the street in front of her child’s 
preschool in the Bronx, NY.  They approached her, handcuffed her and put a chain around her 
waist in sight of the school and other parents.  They said she had a problem with immigration 
and they were taking her for her sole conviction, a 2008 offense involving falsified records for 
which she received only a sentence of restitution and probation.  She explained that she had 
just dropped her 3-year-old off at school and her 9-year-old was at home waiting for her.  They 
said, “We know, we know,” but generally disregarded her and refused to let her use her cell 
phone.  She explained that she needed to get her medication for a serious medical condition. 
Without telling them her address, they drove to her home.  She told agents she did not want her 
mother or child to see her in shackles.  So, the agent called NA’s mother on speakerphone to let 
NA explain the situation, took off his police vest and went to the home to retrieve medication. 
They then processed her and detained her in an immigration jail.  NA’s U.S. citizen husband 
was out of the country at the time of her arrest by ICE, but upon his return, he has struggled to 
care for their 4 U.S. citizen children, ages 13, 12, 9 and 3.  NA has lived in the U.S. for 13 years 
and has applied for relief from deportation but remains detained by ICE.  She said the 
experience “still feels like a terrible dream that I am trying to wake up from. It is terrible, 
demeaning. I feel useless and hopeless and I don’t have confidence in myself anymore.” 
 
Story 219 (JIL):​ On March 17, 2016, JIL was a passenger in a car that ICE agents stopped on 
the road in New Orleans, LA.  The agents asked the driver for his name, then said, “Yep, we got 
him.”  While they detained the driver, agents asked the passengers to step out of the car 

 



one-by-one and then handcuffed them.  The agents did not ask for identification or explain why 
they were under arrest.  When JIL questioned what was happening, the agents claimed he was 
not under arrest and they were merely inspecting the vehicle.  They then shackled his ankles, 
took off the handcuffs and fingerprinted him.  Nearly 3 hours later, they told him he was being 
arrested because he had previously been deported.  They transferred him to an ICE office, told 
him he did not have a right to anything when he asked for a lawyer or bond.  He was detained, 
then released on an order of supervision a month later.  In May 2016, at his regular check-in for 
the order of supervision, agents pushed him against a wall, detained him, and told him he would 
be prosecuted for federal criminal charges of illegal reentry.  JIL had no prior criminal record. 
 
Story 220 (WD): ​On March 22, 2016, WD woke up to 6 ICE agents entering his apartment in 
New Orleans, LA.  They demanded his name and identification.  Despite explaining that he 
could get his passport from his car, they did not permit him to leave the apartment.  When he 
asked who they were looking for, the agents did not answer.  They surrounded him, forcefully 
grabbed his hand and fingerprinted him without his consent.  The agents began to search the 
apartment.  WD feared they would scare his partner and son, especially as the officers started 
yelling at them.  When his partner asked him for the phone number of a local advocacy group 
(Congress of Day Laborers), an agent scoffed, "Another one of those people from the 
Congress."  They taunted him and laughed, promising, "We're going to deport you."  They 
moved quickly as his wife looked for the phone number, handcuffing him at his hands, waist and 
ankles in front of his son who was watching from the window.  On April 27, 2016, advocates 
submitted a request for prosecutorial discretion.  Immediately, WD’s phone and commissary 
accounts were locked.  A few hours later, ICE transferred him to another facility and he was told 
he was facing federal criminal charges of illegal reentry. 
 
 
 

 



ICE Raids 
Use of force & threats 

 
The following are a sample of reports in which ICE agents used force or threats to gain access 
to a home without a judicial warrant.  
 
Story 22 (MIS):​ In December 2015, ICE agents pounded on the door of a two-story multi-unit 
home in Long Island, NY.  When a tenant on the first floor opened the door, the agents barged 
into the home.  They did not identify as immigration authorities and began to demand to see 
MIS.  When MIS appeared, they announced that they were ICE and detained him. 
 
Story 25 (SLN):​ In Winter 2015, ICE agents went to a home in Long Island, NY at 
approximately 5am.  SLN and his girlfriend, who was 9 months pregnant at the time, were 
already awake because she had started having contractions.  All of a sudden, they saw 
flashlights around their window, which disturbed them because it meant someone had jumped 
the locked gate outside of the apartment.  SLN went to the door and opened it to see what was 
going on.  ICE agents rushed the door without asking for permission to enter or identifying 
themselves.  They began to look all over the apartment with flashlights as the couple asked who 
they were and what they were doing.  The agents refused to answer questions, show badges or 
any paperwork.  One asked SLN for his name and demanded to see a piece of mail as proof. 
They then handcuffed SLN as his girlfriend begged them to stop, explaining that she was on the 
verge of giving birth.  One agent told her to stop crying and another got in her face, yelling at her 
not to touch SLN.  SLN’s girlfriend said they couldn’t just arrest him because she needed him 
there and the officers laughed at her.  She was left distraught, all alone, and totally confused as 
to why they had arrested SLN. Due to her elevated stress, she had to have an emergency 
c-section the next day.  
 
Story 42 (POR):​ Approximately 5 ICE agents went to a shelter on Wards Island in New York 
City around 5am.  POR was sleeping when these agents entered his room, grabbed him around 
the ankle and shook him violently.  Other agents shined their flashlights directly into his face. 
As he tried to get dressed, they used the flashlight to search through all of his possessions. 
They then made him leave all of his possessions and the shelter and he had no idea where his 
belongings ended up. 
 
Story 50 (ORT):​ In February 2015, around 5am, more than 6 ICE agents showed up to a home 
in Long Island, NY.  ORT’s brother-in-law answered the door.  The ICE agents said they were 
police and did not ask questions but instead pointed a gun at the brother-in-law’s face and 
eventually at ORT’s wife.  The officers also used force in that they pushed the person at the 
door aside.  ORT’s minor children were also present when this happened and they say that the 
ICE agents pointed a gun at their mother’s head.  They then detained ORT. 
 
Story 59 (LSF): ​In 2015, 8 ICE agents went to a home in Queens, NY around 8:30am.  LSF’s 
sister answered the door.  The agents said they were looking for an escaped convict and 

 



showed a piece of paper with LSF’s picture once they were in the house.  The sister explicitly 
said they could not enter the home without a warrant but the officers entered when the sister 
turned her back at the door. 
 
Story 76 (LG): ​In October 2015, ICE agents knocked loudly on the front door of a home in 
Queens, NY before 7am.  The agents presented themselves as police and LG’s sister asked to 
see a warrant to enter the home.  They asked for LG and told her they didn’t need one and that 
she had to open the door.  They threatened that if LG did not come outside, they would knock 
down the door.  As she resisted opening the door, they acted more aggressively, yelling and 
banging loudly on the outside door as well as windows of the home.  Eventually, LG heard 
commotion and came down from the second floor of the home.  When he opened the door, the 
agents said they were from ICE and arresting him. 
 
Story 93 (MRG):​ In January 2014, several ICE agents began banging on the door of a 
Manhattan, NY apartment in the morning.  Everyone inside woke up and got out of bed.  At the 
door, MRG’s mother asked for a warrant from the officers.  The ICE agents said they don’t have 
a warrant to enter but “if they have to get one, they will destroy this place.”  MRG’s mother then 
allowed them in.  They saw MRG and lied, claiming they needed to take him to the precinct to 
question him about a criminal case.  After contacting the precinct hours later, the family learned 
there was no record of her son and MRG called shortly thereafter from immigration detention. 
 
Story 106 (EWE):​ In September 2014, agents came to a studio/1BR home.  The family heard 
pounding at the door without any vocalization.  EWE’s longtime partner opened the door.  The 
agents pushed in while yelling.  Once inside, they presented a piece of paper they claimed was 
a warrant and showed a photo of somebody else.  They asked EWE to identify himself and his 
name and birthdate matched what was on the paper.  The agents detained EWE. 
 
Story 116 (AB):​ In early 2012, 4 ICE agents went to a home in New York City.  Once inside the 
home, they said they were from immigration and asked AB if her mother or brother were home. 
Although her mother was downstairs, AB said no.  The agents began to search the home, 
entering AB’s U.S. citizen children’s room, taking the blanket off of them and shining flashlights 
in their faces.  They then threatened AB with deportation if she did not find her mother and said 
her children would go into foster care.  AB called her mother who said she would go with agents 
instead of her daughter.  Shortly thereafter, the agents detained AB’s mother.  
 
Story 122 (FOR):​ In late 2015, 6-7 ICE agents went to a home in Bethlehem, PA. The officers 
knocked on the door loudly and subject’s brother-in-law went downstairs to open the door.  He 
asked who was there and the agents answered, “Police.”  He opened the door and let them in. 
FOR and his girlfriend were in a bedroom when ICE agents suddenly pushed open the door. 
They asked him about his identity, took his fingerprints as well as those of other residents, and 
then detained him. 
 

 



Story 126 (ACA): ​In March 2015, ICE agents went to a home in San Francisco, CA.  They did 
not identify as immigration officers but instead said they had a report that someone was using 
the address for criminal activity.  When a resident opened the door, the agents would not say 
who they were looking for and threatened to come into the house to search if they were not 
provided with the identifications of everyone living in the house. 
 
Story 160 (PHO):​ In December 2015, 3 ICE agents came to a home in Queens, NY before 8am 
pretending to be police.  A husband and wife were home with their sleeping children at the time. 
The wife refused to open the door.  The ICE agents kept banging and kicking to the point that 
they actually broke part of the door.  The husband, scared, ran towards the back window but 
ICE agents were there and pointed a gun at his head and said they would shoot if he did not 
open the door.  The wife opened the door; ICE agents -- dressed in jackets that said ICE -- 
entered, handcuffed the husband and started searching the home.  ICE agents entered the 
bedroom where the children were sleeping and checked under the bed and in the closets.  The 
agents were actually looking for a former housemate and, after much pleading and giving the 
phone number of the target, ICE let the couple go.  Nonetheless, the agents took the residents’ 
names, dates of birth, and phone numbers.  
 
Story 164 (RUC): ​In February 2016, ICE agents went to a home in Georgia around 5:30am as 
RUC’s fiancée was leaving for work.  As she got into her car, ICE agents pulled a vehicle into 
her driveway and blocked her truck.  She asked them to identify themselves and they pulled out 
a photograph of a stranger.  When she explained that she did not recognize the person, they 
asked her to call her partner and have him come outside to help identify the man in the 
photograph or else they would not move.  Naively, she called him outside and the ICE agents 
immediately handcuffed RUC.   ICE agents also told her that she could not leave the home now 
or they would report her to DFACS (Dept of Family & Children Services).  His fiancée was 
wracked with guilt, as she did not know she was handing RUC over to authorities who would try 
to deport him.  
 
Story 172 (LIL): ​In April 2016, ICE agents showed up at the Dallas, TX home of LIL and his 
U.S. citizen wife.  When asked for a warrant, the agents admitted they did not have one but 
wanted to take LIL into custody even though he had no criminal history and a pending green 
card application sponsored by his wife.  LIL’s wife came outside to speak with them.  They 
questioned her about her Muslim faith and her family’s history.  When she asked for their card 
so that they could speak to the family’s lawyer, the agent refused, saying, “We don’t give cards 
to people like you.”  As they were leaving, they threatened her, claiming that she was harboring 
an illegal alien and that they would remember her failure to cooperate -- particularly when it 
came to LIL’s bond. 
 
Story 188 (MH):​ In Summer 2015, ICE agents detained MH as he left his home to go to the 
store.  A week prior, ICE agents had come to the home.  MH’s family asked for a warrant.  The 
agents threatened that they would come back with a warrant and rip the house apart. 
 

 



Story 211 (MOJ): ​Early one morning in 2013, MOJ’s wife heard knocking on the door of their 
apartment in the Bronx, NY.  She opened it without thinking much of it.  Officers in bulletproof 
vests immediately pushed past her and ran into the house, with at least one agent holding his 
gun out of the holster.  As she tried to figure out what was happening, they said, “Ma’am, just sit 
down.”  MOJ was in the living room and agents stopped to speak to him.  Another agent went 
into the bedroom area where MOJ’s 9- and 11-year old children were crying.  The agent ordered 
the children back into their rooms, stayed at the bedroom doors, and would not let MOJ or his 
wife move to comfort them.  MOJ’s wife was hysterical and asked repeatedly, “What is this 
about?”  The officers would not respond to her.  The agents retrieved clothes from MOJ’s 
dresser and handcuffed him in the hallway, which is when they told him who they were.  MOJ 
was unable to say goodbye to his children before being detained.  Both of his children 
experienced the event as traumatic.  MOJ’s son was diagnosed as having post-traumatic stress 
disorder after the raid and became fearful of the dark; had flashbacks involving police; and 
vividly remembers the terror of his mother’s screams as ICE took his father away.  

 



ICE Raids 
The use of deception & ruses at homes 

 
The following are a sample of reports in which ICE agents used deception and lies to 
gain access to homes without judicial warrants for the purpose of locating a person for 
detention and deportation.  The stories are categorized by the type of ruse ICE agents 
used at the outset of the raid. 
 
Need to talk to victim of identity theft 
 
Story 14 (HEG):​ In April 2014, at 5am, approximately 10 ICE agents rang the bell of the 
private house in the Bronx, NY.   HEG’s sister asked if it was the police and they said 
yes.  They yelled, “Open the door!  It is the police!”  She was scared and opened the 
door.  HEG’s other sister, who lived on the floor above, was coming downstairs.  Agents 
said, “Is this your brother?” while showing a photo of someone else.  The sisters said, 
“No.”  The agents claimed someone was using their brother’s identity/papers.  HEG’s 
sister explained that he was not present.  An agent asked for them to call their brother. 
HEG’s sister called him, as he was at his girlfriend’s house.  She explained that 
“oficiales” (officials) were looking for him and that it was about identity theft.  Agents went 
a few blocks away to where HEG was and arrested him.  He was eventually ordered 
deported. 
 
Story 17 (PT):​ ​ In March 2014, 2 to 3 ICE agents went to a home in Brooklyn, NY very 
early in the morning.  The agents believed PT lived there but it was his sister’s address. 
She answered and told them he did not live there.  Agents told PT’s sister that he had 
been the victim of some kind of identity or credit fraud and they had a warrant.  His sister 
called PT and he spoke to the officers over the phone.  Since PT worked in information 
technology (IT), he thought maybe his identity had been stolen, so he told officers to 
meet him at the local precinct.  The agents met PT outside of a precinct and arrested 
him, showing an administrative immigration warrant.  
 
Story 58 (AFP):​ In 2015, ICE agents came to a home in Manhattan, NY.  AFP’s sister 
answered the door.  The agents identified themselves as police.  They showed her a 
piece of paper with the AFP’s picture and told her to call her brother because someone 
was using his identity.  Subject came back to the house and ICE then arrested him. 
 
Story 78 (CSL):​ In March 2015, ICE agents went to CSL’s sisters home in Manhattan, 
NY and pretended to be investigating identity theft. ​ ​CSL’s sister called 911 to verify. 

 
 

 



NYPD said these are ICE agents and not to worry.   Family then provided CSL’s address 
where she was immediately detained.  
 
Story 124 (GIL):​ In October 2015, ICE agents went at approximately 4am to GIL’s home 
in Manhattan, NY.  GIL lived in supervised community supportive housing for people with 
mental illnesses who have HIV/AIDS.  Agents told the worker on duty that they needed 
to take GIL for something related to a mistaken identity.  The agents knocked on GIL’s 
room/studio and immediately detained him. 
 
Story 146 (CAF):​ In Fall 2015, ICE agents called CAF pretending to be officials from a 
court asking for his current address.  CAF provided his mother’s address in the Bronx, 
NY.  Agents showed up the next day at 6am.  They showed his mother a photograph of 
a stranger.  When she said she did not know the person, agents said there is something 
going on that we are investigating and asked if she knew ​this​  person, while showing a 
photograph of CAF.  She replied that the person in the second photograph was her son. 
They said that someone is probably using his identity and they need to speak with him. 
She asked them to leave a phone number.  They refused to give a number and said they 
would come back another day. 
 
Doing an investigation + want to show photo of criminal 
“suspect” 
 
Story 19 (MP):​ In October 2015, 5 ICE agents in blue uniforms came to a home in 
Staten Island, NY around 7am.  MP’s partner was making breakfast for their children and 
answered the door.  Agents showed her a picture of someone she didn’t know and said 
they were looking for that person.  When said that she didn’t recognize him, they asked 
her if they could come in and said it was “routine” to ask a few questions and take down 
the report. When they came in, MP walked into the room.  When they saw MP, they 
asked him for ID, told him to change and arrested him.  
 
Story 26 (QFI):​ In December 2015, 4 ICE agents banged on the door of a home in 
Queens, NY.  They announced themselves as “federal police.”  QFI’s wife did not think 
they were immigration agents and so she opened the door.  They asked to enter and 
she allowed them in.  QFI’s wife, two adults and three children -- two of whom were 
autistic -- were present, but QFI was not present, as his wife had an order of protection 
against him.  The agents said they were looking for a white man who appeared in a 
photograph they showed QFI’s wife.  She said she had seen the person before but he 
did not live in the apartment.  They said he had committed a lot of fraud crimes around 

 
 

 



the neighborhood and they were investigating him.  They pronounced a name similar to 
QFI’s last name and asked if someone lived in the house with that last name.  She said 
no.  They asked her last name and her husband’s name.  They asked about her 
husband’s whereabouts.  She said she did not know.   They asked if she could tell him to 
call them?  She explained that she was not in contact with him.  They asked her to call 
her brother-in-law and tell him to have QFI call them.  She did so, but thought she was 
helping a police investigation, not immigration authorities.  QFI called the agents. 
Shortly thereafter, ICE arrested him at work. 
 
Story 37 (FJE):​ In August 2015, FJE’s girlfriend was in her bedroom asleep when she 
heard banging on the door of her home in the Bronx, NY.  FJE was asleep on the couch 
in the living room at the time.  She thought it was her neighbor downstairs who lost her 
keys.  So, she opened the door.  There were approximately 5 agents in bulletproof vests. 
They said they were from Homeland Security and that they were doing an investigation. 
They asked, “Have you seen this person?”  They then showed her a photo of someone 
she has never seen.  She said, “no.”  They said, “This is Frank.  Have you ever seen him 
before?”  She said, “no.”  They asked, “Well do you know a Frank?”  She said, “Yeah but 
that’s not him.”  She stepped back to look at FJE and they started to step into the house 
as soon as she stepped back.  At the same time, they said, “Oh, is he here?  You don’t 
mind if we come in, do you?”  At the moment, she thought it was a mistaken identity 
issue.  An agent said, “Are you Frank?”  FJE said, “Yes.”  They said, “We have a warrant 
for your arrest.”  FJE’s girlfriend asked to take a picture of what they showed her and 
they laughed and said absolutely not.  They never showed a warrant and said she could 
figure out everything later. 
 
Story 54 (WDA):​ In February 2015, WDA’s father-in-law answered the door to the home. 
3 agents said they were conducting an investigation, but did not identify themselves as 
immigration.  They showed a photo of a stranger and mentioned an unknown name at 
the door.  WDA’s father-in-law said, “I don’t know him.”  The officers then demanded to 
see everyone in the house.  When they saw WDA, the officers said that they needed 
“privacy” and then arrested him. 
 
Story 63 (BIC):​ In 2015, ICE agents came to the door of a home in Westchester, NY. 
The agents wore shirts with the word “police” on them and identified as police. They 
showed a photograph of a stranger to gain entry to the house.  They then asked if BIC 
had a problem in NJ.  BIC had a previous conviction for trespassing in NJ but nothing 
current.  BIC asked if they were immigration and they said yes and detained him. 
 

 
 

 



Story 64 (TT):​ ​ In 2015, 7 ICE agents came to a home in Orange County, NY around 
6:30am.  They were wearing shirts that said “police” on them.  TT’s girlfriend answered 
the door.  The officers said they were looking for someone and named someone who did 
not live in the home as well as showing a stranger’s photograph.  They asked her who 
else was home.  She said that her boyfriend was home.  TT came to the door.  ICE 
asked for his name and ID.  They then said they were from immigration and were there 
to arrest him.  
 
Story 77 (KMR):​ In September 2015, ICE agents came to a home in Waterbury, CT in 
the morning.  KMR’s 13-year-old step-daughter answered the door and saw 5 officers in 
protective vests with the word “POLICE” on them.  The agents asked who lived in the 
home and on the floor above.  They asked her age and showed her a photograph of a 
stranger she did not recognize.  They asked her if “M” lived there, using KMR’s middle 
name.  She said yes and they asked her to get him.  She went to the bedroom and got 
her mother instead.  KMR’s partner came to the door and they said they had a few 
questions for KMR but did not identify themselves.  KMR’s partner woke him up and told 
him police were outside and had some questions.  She stayed in the bedroom because 
she did not think anything bad was happening.  When KMR stepped into the hallway, the 
agents identified themselves as ICE and arrested him. 
 
Story 86 (BKO):​ In April 2014, 4 ICE agents showed up to a home in Brooklyn, NY at 
approximately 5:30am.  BKO was not present but his mother and children were there.  4 
agents pretending to be police showed his mother pictures at the door, including some of 
strangers and one of him.  She explained that he was not there. The officers came back 
that afternoon and knocked on the door, again looking for BKO who was still not home. 
 
Story 89 (DZ):​ In April 2013, ICE agents went to a home in New York and presented 
themselves as police looking for a suspect.  DZ was not there and his wife, who was 
home alone, refused to let them enter.  The agents waited for a half hour outside the 
door until she finally let them into her kitchen.  They showed her a picture of a black man 
they were looking for and she explained she did not know him nor did he live there, but 
they continued to ask questions about the black man.  The agents inquired about the 
whereabouts of her husband and son, the other residents of the apartment; she 
explained they were at work in Manhattan.  The agents asked to see her identification 
and if they could search her room.  She initially refused but then granted them access. 
They searched under her bed and in her closet before saying everything was okay. 
They asked her where DZ worked and left.  Approximately 20 minutes later, they 
detained him at work. 
 

 
 

 



Story 112 (HEN): ​In April 2012, 4-5 ICE agents went to HEN’s home in New York City 
around 7:20am.  HEN was there with a friend and getting her 7-year-old daughter ready 
for school.  The agents announced themselves as police, claiming they had to ask her a 
couple of questions and show her a couple of pictures.  They asked her to step outside 
and then an agent explained they were from immigration and there to pick her up.  The 
ICE agents detained HEN at her home that morning and she was released later that day. 
 
Story 118 (TCL): ​ICE agents went to the Brooklyn home of TCL’s elderly mother.  When 
she answered the door, they said TCL’s name but showed a photograph of someone 
else.  She explained that the name was her son’s name but he was not the person in the 
photograph.  She also told them that her son was not home and did not live there.  The 
agents told her to call him and have him meet them outside the home to clear this up. 
She complied and when TCL arrived, the agents immediately arrested him. 
 
Story 135 (ASAK):​ In October 2016, ICE agents went to a two-story multi-family 
Queens, NY home before 6am.  They knocked on the door of ASAK’s downstairs 
neighbor who denied them entry without a warrant.  So, the agents kept banging until 
ASAK's wife woke up and came out to speak with them.  She explained that ASAK was 
out walking the dog and stopping at the store, but they kept pressing her on whether he 
was inside.  They showed her a picture of a black man with dreadlocks and asked if she 
knew him or thought her husband might know him.  When she said she did not know the 
person, they asked for the name of the store where ASAK was and for his phone 
number.  She gave them his number and 2 officers said they were going to walk up the 
block to see him.  They approached ASAK, asking about the dog.  Then, a number of 
officers ran up and detained him.  They would not let ASAK’s wife walk outside and 
minutes later, they handed her the dog and said they were taking him in.  She asked if 
they could tell her what was going on.  They said no, that they were from immigration 
and ASAK would call her later. 
 
Story 136 (RUR):​ In April 2015, 3 ICE agents came to RUR’s brother’s door around 
6am.  The brothers live on the same hallway two doors down from each other in 
Manhattan, NY.  RUR’s brother remembers officers wearing NYPD uniforms and stating 
that they were doing an investigation while showing a picture of someone else.  Once 
they saw RUR, they asked for ID, followed him into a room to get dressed, searched him 
and detained him.  
 
Story 164 (RUC): ​In February 2016, ICE agents went to a home in Georgia around 
5:30am as RUC’s fiancée was leaving for work.  As she got into her car, ICE agents 
pulled a vehicle into her driveway and blocked her truck.  She asked them to identify 

 
 

 



themselves and they pulled out a photograph of a stranger.  When she explained that 
she did not recognize the person, they asked her to call her partner and have him come 
outside to help identify the man in the photograph or else they would not move.  Naively, 
she called him outside and the ICE agents immediately handcuffed RUC.   ICE agents 
also told her that she could not leave the home now or they would report her to DFACS 
(Dept of Family & Children Services).  His fiancée was wracked with guilt, as she did not 
know she was handing RUC over to authorities who would try to deport him.  
 
Story 200 (DJO):​ In March 2014, ICE agents went to a home in Queens, NY.  They told 
DJO they were police officers looking for someone and wanted her to identify a picture. 
Once she let them into the home, they revealed they were from immigration.  She 
explained that she was home alone with her 7- and 10-year-old children who were 
sleeping.  They asked about the status of her children, searched the home for any other 
adults, and then told her to report to the local immigration office after dropping the 
children off at school.  DJO has since been ordered deported. 
 
Story 224 (SSM):​ In August 2016, ICE agents went to a home in Brooklyn, NY around 
7am.  SSM’s mother answered the door and the agents, who did not identify as ICE, 
showed her a picture of a stranger and asked if anyone had seen that person.  When 
she explained she did not recognize the person, the agents asked if she was the owner 
of the house.  She brought SSM’s grandmother, the owner, to the agents.  SSM’s 
grandmother let them into the home and they asked for SSM, who then came 
downstairs.  He was living there with his siblings, girlfriend and their two young children. 
The officers asked his name and for identification.  When he went upstairs to retrieve his 
identification, the agents followed him up.  When he took out the identification, they 
placed him under arrest.  They refused to answer questions until SSM’s grandmother 
asked why they were arresting him.  They said, “immigration.”  SSM’s children were 
sleeping in the home at the time but his younger siblings were awake and crying as the 
agents detained him and took him out of the home. 
 
Story 225 (AL):​ On November 22, 2013, AL received a call from his brother around 6am 
saying that the warrant squad was at their mother’s Brooklyn, NY apartment.  They 
showed a photograph of a stranger and said they were looking for “AL.”  AL’s brother put 
the agents on the phone with AL. They said they were from the warrant squad and 
needed to verify that the person in the photograph was not him.  AL said he was not in 
the area but agreed to meet at a specific location.  About 10 agents showed up in 4 
unmarked cars and a truck and AL was standing on the street.  An agent showed AL a 
photograph of a stranger and AL confirmed it was not him.  The agent displayed AL’s 
photograph and said, “But ​this​  is you.”  He then said AL was going to get deported. 

 
 

 



Agents surrounded him with their guns in their hands but pointed to the ground and 
detained him.  AL was eventually released from ICE custody after filing a federal habeas 
petition but still faces deportation. 
 
Looking for criminal “suspect” they believe is in the house 
 
Story 18 (JS):​ In October 2015, ICE agents went to a home in Staten Island, NY in the 
morning.  JS was asleep with his 4-year-old son in a bedroom.  His partner was awake 
and heard agents knocking repeatedly on the door and window, announcing themselves 
as police.  She spoke with them through the window and said someone had been using 
their address and they needed to look for the person.  Assuming they were looking for 
someone upstairs, JS’s partner opened the door and the agents walked in. They then 
identified themselves as immigration officers, asked who was home, and when she told 
them where JS was, the officers walked into the bedroom and arrested him in the 
presence of his son. 
 
Story 38 (ROM):​ In February 2016, 4 ICE agents came to a home in Queens, NY at 
approximately 5:45am.  ROM’s mother answered the door.  The agents presented 
themselves as police, showed her a photograph of a man they said they were looking 
for, stated that this man was using her address and that they were investigating him. 
She explained that this person did not live there but they nonetheless asked if they could 
come in to talk to her and she allowed them in.  The agents entered her son’s room 
where he was asleep.  They asked him to identify himself and, when he did, they said 
they were there to arrest him. 
 
Story 59 (LSF):​ ​ In 2015, 8 ICE agents went to a home in Queens, NY around 8:30am. 
LSF’s sister answered the door.  The agents said they were looking for an escaped 
convict and showed a piece of paper with LSF’s picture once they were in the house. 
The sister explicitly said they could not enter the home without a warrant but the officers 
entered when the sister turned her back at the door. 
 
Story 79 (JOS):​ In March 2015, around 6am, 8 or 9 ICE agents came to a home in the 
Bronx, NY.  JOS’ partner, MP, answered the door, thinking it was her daughter who had 
just left for work.  The ICE agents, who were armed, presented themselves as police and 
said that they wanted to talk because they were investigating something in the building. 
MP said, “What does that have to do with me?”  They said they were looking for 
someone and so she let them into the home.  2 officers entered and the others stayed in 
the hallway.  They asked who was home and at that moment, JOS stepped out of his 
room to see what was going on.  They immediately asked him for ID and handcuffed him 

 
 

 



in front of his loved ones.  They said they would only take him to booking, register him 
and that he’d be back in the afternoon but he was detained and eventually called home 
from an immigration jail. 
 
Story 83 (SJ):​ In September 2015, ICE agents went to a home in Brooklyn, NY, 
pretending to be police looking for a suspect who had supposedly robbed banks, stolen 
identities and was recently arrested for stealing a limousine.  The family lived in a 
second floor apartment above a store.  SJ’s brother-in-law let the agents in when they 
stated they wanted to verify that the suspect they sought was not in the home.  The 
family then began to review photographs of strangers presented by the agents.  They 
explained that they did not know anyone shown but the agents insisted the suspect lived 
there.  When the agents then used SJ’s name, SJ’s 16-year-old niece who had been 
translating for the family explained that her uncle’s name was “S” but that he was not 
home.  Nonetheless, the agents went to SJ’s room in the home and knocked on his 
door.  They asked for SJ’s phone number to talk to him and verify in person that he was 
not the man in the photograph.  The family called SJ to come home to clear his name. 
15 minutes later, the agents were waiting in front of the building when SJ walked up. 
They immediately told him to put his hands behind his back and handcuffed him.  
 
Story 126 (ACA):​ In March 2015, ICE agents went to a home in San Francisco, CA. 
They did not identify as immigration officers but instead said they were police conducting 
an investigation.  The agents claimed to receive a report that someone was using the 
address for criminal activity -- something advocates in the Bay Area had heard ICE was 
saying to several people targeted in raids throughout the same week.  When ACA’s 
cousin opened the door, the agents would not say who they were looking for and 
threatened to come into the house to search if they were not provided with the 
identifications of everyone living in the house.  ACA came to the door, saw the uniforms 
marked “POLICE,” and provided identification.  The agents asked him to step outside. 
He did so thinking they might want to talk to him as a witness since he works at night. 
The agents showed him a document with his photograph on it, identified him as the 
person they were looking for and detained him.  Only then did the agents reveal they 
were immigration authorities. 
 
Story 166 (ACC): ​In February 2016, 4 ICE agents went to a home in Queens, NY at 
5:45am.  ACC's mother woke up because of the knocking.  The agents announced 
themselves as federal police and showed her a photograph of a stranger, asking if he 
lived there.  She said no and an agent replied, "He is using your address and we are 
doing an investigation about it.  Can we enter?"  She allowed them in.  Once inside, they 
asked who lived there and she answered, "Me and my son."  They asked ACC for 

 
 

 



identification, which he provided.  They then detained him immediately, shackling him 
both at the arms and legs before leading him out. 
 
Story 176 (LUG): ​In April 2015, ICE agents knocked loudly on the door of a home in 
Queens, NY before 6am.  LUG’s aunt approached the door and the agents lied, claiming 
they were police looking for a fugitive in the building.  They requested her identification. 
When she stepped back from the front door to get it, they started to walk right into the 
apartment, explaining that they were entering because they were looking for an escaped 
convict.  They saw LUG, who was sleeping on the sofa in the living room, told him to 
stand up, and handcuffed him.  After detaining LUG, agents fingerprinted another 
relative using a machine and, after 5-10 minutes, told him he was good.  
 
Generally want help with a criminal investigation 
 
Story 60 (SN):​ In 2015, 2 ICE agents came to a home in Queens, NY around 7am. 
They identified themselves as police and showed a picture of SN once inside the house. 
The officers lied to gain entry in that they said they wanted SN’s help to identify friends. 
 
Story 65 (AT):​ In 2015, 5-6 officers came to the door of a home in the Bronx, NY around 
6am.  AT’s partner answered the door.  Officers said they were police and lied, saying 
they were conducting an investigation.  They were allowed entry and AT was arrested at 
the home. 
 
Story 67 (JAK):​ In 2015, 5 or more ICE agents came to a home in the Bronx, NY around 
7:30am.  JAK answered the door.  JAK remember the officers identifying as NYPD and 
saying that they were looking for someone else.  Once inside the home, the officers 
showed her rap sheet and detained her, saying she would be back with a half hour. 
 
Story 73 (ABW):​ In January 2015, 7 ICE agents came to an apartment in the Bronx, NY 
in the afternoon.  The apartment was the home of ABW’s friend.  ABW answered the 
door.  The agents lied to gain entry, claiming they were police conducting an ongoing 
investigation about drugs, marijuana and guns.  They told ABW they had some 
questions.  Shortly thereafter, the agents detained ABW. 
 
Story 75 (BEN):​ In March 2015, ICE agents came to a home in Staten Island, NY 
around 7:30am.  They said they were police doing an investigation and wanted to ask 
some questions.  BEN’s gf who answered the door then gave them permission to enter. 
Client arrested inside. 
 

 
 

 



Story 157 (FAF):​ In November 2015, 10-15 ICE agents showed up at a home in the 
Bronx, NY early in the morning.  FAF’s father answered the door and the agents 
pretended to be police conducting an investigation.  Once inside, they asked both FAF 
and his father for IDs.  FAF said he didn’t understand why if they were just conducting an 
investigation, but the agents would not answer questions about the investigation they 
were conducting.  Shortly thereafter, they announced that they were immigration agents 
and detained FAF.  They then lied and told FAF’s mother that he would be coming back 
shortly. 
 
Story 209 (DAZ):​ In May 2016, ICE agents went to a home in Long Island, NY around 
6am.  DAZ’s wife answered the door and agents, identifying themselves as Nassau 
County police, said they needed DAZ’s help with an investigation into a crime that 
occurred.  So, she allowed them into the home, thinking little of it since she knew he was 
not involved in any crime.  DAZ was getting ready for work and once inside the home, 
the agents showed a photograph of DAZ.  The family asked for a warrant and the agents 
said it was in the car.  They detained DAZ.  His wife saw that, outside of the home, there 
were several Nassau police cars as well as unmarked cars.  
 
Need to clear up a court compliance issue 
 
Story 62 (BKC):​ In 2015, 4 ICE agents came to a home in Sullivan County, NY around 
6am.  BKC’s daughter answered the door.  The agents identified as ICE but lied to gain 
entry to the home by falsely claiming that BKC had missed 2 immigration hearings.  They 
then arrested BKC inside the home. 
 
Story 104 (IRL): ​In July 2016, ICE agents went to a home in San Jose, CA around 
6:50am.  IRL’s parents, ages 72 and 68, were sitting outside peeling cacti.  The agents, 
pretending to be police and probation officers, asked for IRL.  His mother went inside 
and spoke to NML, IRL’s sister.  NML, from inside the apartment, pressed them to show 
identification and a warrant.  They did neither and lied, claiming IRL had missed a 
probation appointment.  NML refused them entry.  IRL called his probation officer who 
said he had not sent anyone from their office but guessed it might be ICE.  The agents 
outside then admitted they were from ICE.  Even though the family said IRL did not want 
to speak with them, the agents remained outside.  At one point, an ICE officer asked 
NML if she was an attorney because “she talked so much.”  After 2 hours, the family 
thought ICE would not leave until IRL met them.  IRL was able to get his immigration 
lawyer to speak to the agents and they finally left.  The family felt unsafe and anxious at 
the agents’ persistence.  IRL’s parents feared they would be evicted because of all the 
commotion and because ICE officers had initially approached the property manager to 

 
 

 



gain permission to enter the apartment complex.  IRL’s father began to feel ill due to the 
mounting anxiety and had to be taken to the hospital later that afternoon. 
 
Story 133 (TAV): ​In August 2016, ICE agents went to a home in Queens, NY at 6am. 
TAV’s girlfriend opened the door to the apartment, as TAV was still in bed.  The officer 
claimed that he was there to speak to TAV about a surcharge of $150 owed to a court. 
TAV came to the door; he saw officers in plainclothes and what he believed to be an 
NYPD badge.  The agent asked TAV to identify himself.  When TAV asked to see a 
warrant, the agent asked TAV to come with them and threatened, “If you don’t, we are 
going to come back and arrest everyone.”  Three officers then escorted TAV out of the 
apartment, agreeing not to handcuff him inside.  Once in the lobby, one agent forcibly 
took him to the ground and said, “I’m ICE.  You’re going to get deported.”  TAV’s 
girlfriend came downstairs and saw the officer pushing TAV to the floor.  She started 
crying and yelling, at which point another agent drew a gun on her and told her to shut 
up.  They then handcuffed TAV and took him outside. 
 
Story 149 (SWN): ​In October 2015, ICE agents detained SWN at home in the Bronx, 
NY.  SWN was on probation and, at his last check-in, SWN’s probation officer (PO) 
verified a number of addresses and said she would be sending a “police officer” to his 
house to check his address.  A couple days later, an officer showed up at his house, but 
he was at work. SWN then received multiple calls from someone who identified as a 
“police officer” looking to meet.  The agent asked about SWN’s days off from work. 
SWN explained that he was free on Sundays but spent those days with his 3-year-old 
daughter.  The “police officer” agreed to meet SWN on a weekday morning at his home. 
The agent showed up at 7am and announced himself as “police.”  SWN let him in after 
verifying it was the caller.  The agent then told SWN to get his shoes and wallet because 
he had to come with them.  The agent then revealed he was from ICE and handcuffed 
SWN.  When he took SWN outside, there were about 6 to 8 other officers waiting. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 



ICE Raids 
The use of deception to lure people into public spaces 

 
The following are a sample of reports of ICE agents luring people out of the home and into 
public or government-run spaces through lies, harassment and surveillance. 
 
Story 17 (PT):​ ​ In March 2014, 2 to 3 ICE agents went to a home in Brooklyn, NY very early in 
the morning.  The agents believed PT lived there but it was his sister’s address.  She answered 
and told them he did not live there.  Agents told PT’s sister that he had been the victim of some 
kind of identity or credit fraud and they had a warrant.  His sister called PT and he spoke to the 
officers over the phone.  Since PT worked in information technology (IT), he thought maybe his 
identity had been stolen, so he told officers to meet him at the local precinct.  The agents met 
PT outside of a precinct and arrested him, showing an administrative immigration warrant.  
 
Story 27 (EAJ):​ In January 2016, 2 ICE agents came to a home in Manhattan, NY around 5am. 
EAJ’s sister and 65-year-old father were home and EAJ was at work.  They reluctantly opened 
the door and saw who EAJ’s sister described as an officer and a detective.  One agent 
presented himself as a detective looking for her EAJ.  The other had a badge and paper.  They 
identified as NYPD, claiming to be Detective “A” and Officer “B.”  EAJ’s sister heard noise 
outside and asked who the other people were and why there were several SUVs outside.  The 
agents said, “Those are our backup, don’t worry.” She explained that EAJ was at work.  They 
asked for his number and said not to worry, that it was just to ask him questions about last 
year’s case.  The family gave his cell phone number and now feels it was all a setup.  The 
agents called him at work and arranged to meet him.  When he showed up 2 days later, they 
detained him. 
 
Story 29 (LIJ):​ In September 2015, ICE agents went to LIJ’s mother’s home in Brooklyn, NY. 
The agents explained they needed to speak to LIJ but did not identify themselves as 
immigration authorities.  LIJ’s stepfather explained that LIJ was not there and gave the agents 
LIJ’s phone number.  The agents called LIJ, pretending to be police, and said they needed to 
speak with him.  LIJ arranged to meet the agents downstairs from his apartment.  LIJ was 
getting his 3-year-old child ready for school and, since he did not anticipate being arrested, he 
carried her to meet them.  They escorted him upstairs.  LIJ asked his partner to take their 
daughter to another room so the child would not see what was happening.  The agents said he 
had to go with them and that it was just a formality.  The agents detained LIJ and kept him in an 
immigration jail. 
 
Story 57 (YF):​ In 2015, ICE agents went to YF’s mother’s house.  They asked her who was 
living in the house and showed her a picture of a “suspect.”  YF’s mother said she lived with her 
children, naming each one.  ICE asked for the phone number of YF.  They then called him and 
met him at his job in Manhattan in the early morning where they detained him. 
 



Story 66 (GH): ​In 2015, ICE agents contacted GH pretending to be police and said they needed 
to meet him for an investigation.  They arranged to meet at the NYPD’s 52nd precinct in the 
Bronx, NY.  As client walked up, he saw ICE agents standing outside who said they had a 
warrant to arrest him and immediately detained him. 
 
Story 80 (RWN):​ In July 2016, ICE agents posing as “police” called RWN’s phone and said they 
wanted to inspect his car to see if it was in an accident.  Knowing this did not happen, RWN 
confidently made an appointment to meet with them at his job where ICE agents immediately 
detained him.  
 
Story 93 (MRG): ​In January 2014, several ICE agents began banging on the door of a 
Manhattan, NY apartment in the morning.  Everyone inside woke up and got out of bed.  MRG’s 
mother asked for a warrant from the officers.  The ICE agents said they don’t have a warrant but 
“if they have to get one, they will destroy this place.”  MRG’s mother then allowed them in.  They 
saw MRG and lied, claiming they needed to take him to the precinct to question him about 
another case.  After contacting and going to the closest NYPD precinct hours later, the family 
learned there was no record of her son and MRG called later that day from immigration 
detention. 
 
Story 95 (OSH): ​In May 2016, at approximately 6am, ICE agents rang the bell at OSH’s home. 
OSH, a 57-year-old man, saw their police jackets from the window and went downstairs.  The 
officers said there was something wrong with his motor vehicle.  Shocked, he asked what was 
wrong.  They replied, “Do you have a driver’s license?”  He showed them his license and they 
said something was wrong and asked, “Do you want to come with us?”  They asked him to step 
outside.  He did and then they revealed they were from ICE and placing him under arrest.  OSH 
was stunned, asking, “What immigration problem?  After I served my time?”  It had been almost 
20 years since the conviction that led ICE to his door.  Since that time, he had never been 
arrested or even received a traffic ticket. 
 
Story 114 (JAT):​ In March 2016, ICE agents went to JAT’s previous residence in California. 
They asked the property manager to call JAT from his personal phone so they could speak with 
JAT.  Around 5:40am, JAT received that call.  ICE agents told JAT they were police and asked 
whether he had finished his classes for a driving under the influence of alcohol conviction.  JAT 
confirmed that he completed everything required of him.  The agents told JAT they needed to 
review his paperwork and asked him to drive to the residence where they were.  Feeling 
confident because of his compliance, JAT agreed.  When JAT arrived, he was ordered out of his 
car, handcuffed and thrown on the floor by two agents who only then identified themselves as 
immigration authorities. 
 
Story 118 (TCL):​ ICE agents went to the Brooklyn home of TCL’s mother.  When she answered 
the door, they said TCL’s name but showed a photograph of someone else.  She explained that 
the name was her son’s name but he was not the person in the photograph.  She also told them 
that her son was not home and did not live there.  The agents told her to call him and have him 



meet them outside the home to clear this up.  She complied and when TCL arrived, the agents 
immediately arrested him. 
 
Story 120 (AYM): ​In late 2013, around 5am, 6-7 ICE agents showed up at the Manhattan, NY 
home of AYM’s 72-year-old father who answered the door.  An agent told AYM’s father that 
someone was using his son’s green card and that there was some kind of warrant.  They 
showed AYM’s father a piece of paper with his son’s photo on it but the father could not read it. 
Other family members were home and ICE agents asked about AYMs whereabouts but no one 
knew where he was staying.  Everyone conveyed that AYM was not present; nonetheless, the 
agents searched the home.  AYM’s father panicked and told his son to go to 26 Federal Plaza to 
meet them.  The father also gave ICE agents his son’s phone number and the agents kept 
calling until AYM finally agreed to meet at Federal Plaza.  They detained him immediately at 26 
Federal Plaza. 
 
Story 134 (LER):​ In November 2014, LER received a phone call from an ICE agent pretending 
to be a police officer in Manhattan.  The officer claimed LER had hit a car in Manhattan and then 
fled the scene.  The agent detailed the color and make of the car in question and stated it had 
license plates that matched LER's car.  LER explained that while he did have that type of car, it 
was not him and he had not even been to Manhattan recently.  The officer asked to come to 
LER's home to examine his car and verify that it had not been in a recent accident.  LER gave 
his address.  A few weeks later, the agent called to arrange a meeting.  LER waited at the 
agreed upon time when the officer called, asking him to come outside.  He then saw 3 agents 
who identified as New York police officers and asked to see the car.  LER explained it was in 
the garage.  He went to open it, stepped inside and the agents stated he was under arrest, 
claiming they had a warrant.  The agents refused to allow him to change clothes and made him 
remove his belt and shoelaces.  LER describes feeling humiliated as his pants fell off as they 
took him into custody. 
 
Story 158 (GST):​ In November 2015, ICE agents called GST’s sister and friend to try to obtain 
GST’s phone number.  The agents lied to GST’s relatives, claiming that GST was the victim of 
identity theft, which is why the officers needed to speak to him.  The agents then contacted GST 
with the same lie, stating they had suspects and wanted to see if GST knew the person and 
could identify the suspect by face.  They asked GST to meet at 26 Federal Plaza in New York to 
review mug shots.  When GST arrived, they detained him. 
 
Story 170 (LEC): ​In early 2016, ICE agents went to the Los Angeles, CA home of LEC’s 
mother.  ICE agents, posing as detectives, claimed they needed to speak to LEC about 
someone named Oscar.  A family member gave the agents LEC’s number, thinking they were 
police.  The agents called LEC daily at 3am for weeks, insisting he knows “Oscar” despite LEC’s 
denials and claiming they wanted to show him a photograph.  Finally, LEC agreed to meet to 
clear everything up.  5 agents banged on the door at 4am; his mother answered and called him 
on the phone to come to the house since LEC lived elsewhere with his pregnant girlfriend and 
2-year-old child.  As he arrived, the agents approached and asked if he knows “Giovanni,” 



showing him a picture and asking for identification.  When he showed a “matricula,” they 
arrested him, only then revealing they were from ICE.  20-year-old LEC was then detained, 
stripping his family of a primary breadwinner and forcing him to miss the birth of his second 
child. 
 
Story 173 (JG):​ Around 5am in February 2016, ICE agents posing as police arrived outside of 
JG’s home in Queens, NY.  They had harassed his mother for contact information at her home 
and then called JG repeatedly asking him to meet. The agents identified themselves as “police” 
and “detectives,” and insisted JG knew a person of interest, despite JG explaining that he did 
not know anyone with the name agents used.  When JG offered to meet at the precinct at 
4:30pm, the agent would not specify a precinct, claimed he would be gone by then, and asked 
to meet at JG’s home the next morning.  JG provided his address.  The next morning, an agent 
called repeatedly while JG was showering.  When JG exited the building, he saw 4 cars with 
headlights on double parked from which agents jumped out with guns drawn.  The agents 
immediately detained him. 
 
Story 199 (JNY):​ In January 2016, JNY received multiple calls on his cell phone from an ICE 
agent who claimed to be “Officer Johnny” supervised by “Officer Morales” from the “crime 
investigation unit” of the 44th precinct in the Bronx, NY where JNY used to live.  The agent 
claimed that JNY was a suspect in a crime and they need to check that he didn't have bruises 
on his body.  When JNY explained that he now lived in NJ and was innocent, the agent said he 
could come to “the station” or they would come to him; so, JNY provided his address.  That 
same day, ICE agents showed up to his home and arrested him.  After, JNY’s girlfriend called 
the 44th precinct to discover that there was no “Officer Johnny” or “Officer Morales” that worked 
there. 
 
Story 205 (EB): ​In May 2016, ICE agents came looking for EB at his home and workplace. 
When ICE agents spoke with EB’s son, they left a phone number and told EB’s son that they 
just wanted to ask EB some questions.  They did not say anything about detaining EB.  EB 
called the phone number and agreed to meet with them at a friend’s office in Manhattan, NY. 
ICE agents detained him there. 
 
Story 225 (AL):​ On November 22, 2013, AL received a call from his brother around 6am saying 
that the warrant squad was at their mother’s Brooklyn, NY apartment.  They showed a 
photograph of a stranger and said they were looking for “AL.”  AL’s brother put the agents on 
the phone with AL. They said they were from the warrant squad and needed to verify that the 
person in the photograph was not him.  AL said he was not in the area but agreed to meet at a 
specific location.  The agents showed up in 4 unmarked cars and a truck and AL was standing 
on the street.  About 10 officers exited.  An agent showed AL a photograph of a stranger and AL 
confirmed it was not him.  The agent displayed AL’s photograph and said, “But ​this​  is you.”  He 
then said AL was going to get deported.  Agents surrounded him with their guns in their hands 
but pointed to the ground and detained him.  



ICE Raids 
The use of gratuitous or excessive searches 

 
The following are a sample of reports in which ICE agents performed gratuitous or excessive 
searches during raids. 
 
Story 13 (FAL):​ In April 2014, approximately 8 ICE agents went a 3-family home in New York. 
FAL’s uncle was leaving the residence and ran into the agents.  FAL and his uncle rented rooms 
inside the home.  They spoke to FAL’s uncle and, when FAL’s door was locked, they told his 
uncle that he had to open the door.  FAL’s uncle knocked and FAL opened the door.  The 
agents entered and searched the whole place.  The agents handcuffed FAL and took him out. 
 
Story 20 (ITZ)​: ICE agents went to a house in Staten Island, NY around 6am in December 
2015.  ITZ lived there with his partner, 3 children and other tenants.  ICE officers parked several 
black vehicles in front of the home and asked multiple tenants leaving for work for identification 
and access to the building.  When one tenant reentered the home to retrieve identification, an 
ICE agent followed him upstairs, knocked on all of the doors in the residence, reviewing 
identification and asking about the number of people in the home.  When ITZ’s partner showed 
ICE agents a “matricula,” they took a photograph of it on a phone.  They asked for ITZ’s 
identification and then detained him, falsely promising he would be released before work. 
 
Story 25 (SLN):​ In Winter 2015, ICE agents went to a home in Long Island, NY at 
approximately 5am.  SLN and his girlfriend, who was 9 months pregnant at the time, were 
already awake because she had started having contractions.  All of a sudden, they saw 
flashlights around their window, which disturbed them because it meant someone had jumped 
the locked gate outside of the apartment.  SLN went to the door and opened it to see what was 
going on.  ICE agents rushed the door without asking for permission to enter or identifying 
themselves.  They began to look all over the apartment with flashlights as the couple asked who 
they were and what they were doing.  The agents refused to answer questions.  One asked SLN 
for his name and demanded to see a piece of mail as proof.  They then handcuffed SLN as his 
girlfriend begged them to stop, explaining that she was on the verge of giving birth.  One agent 
told her to stop crying and another got in her face, yelling at her not to touch SLN.  SLN’s 
girlfriend said they couldn’t just arrest him because she needed him there and the officers 
laughed at her.  She was left distraught, all alone, and totally confused as to why they had 
arrested SLN. Due to her elevated stress, she had to have an emergency c-section the next 
day.  
 
Story 38 (ROM):​ In February 2016, 4 ICE agents came to a home in Queens at approximately 
5:45am.  ROM’s mother answered the door.  The agents presented themselves as police, 
showed her a photograph of a man they said they were looking for, stated that this man was 
using her address and that they were investigating him.  She explained that this person did not 
live there but they nonetheless asked if they could come in to talk to her and she allowed them 



in.  The agents entered her son’s room where he was asleep.  They asked him to identify 
himself and, when he did, they said they were there to arrest him. 
 
Story 42 (POR):​ Approximately 5 ICE agents went to a shelter on Wards Island in New York 
City around 5am.  POR was sleeping when these agents entered his room, grabbed him around 
the ankle and shook him violently.  Other agents shined their flashlights directly into his face. 
As he tried to get dressed, they used the flashlight to search through all of his possessions. 
They then made him leave all of his possessions and the shelter and he had no idea where his 
belongings ended up. 
 
Story 48 (AZE):​ In February 2015, ICE agents raided a shelter in New York City at 5am and 
detained AZE.  The agents also went through AZE’s belongings in his locker. 
 
Story 82 (JJT):​ Just before dawn, ICE came to the Bronx, NY home of JJT and his cousin VN. 
JJT let the agents in and they immediately handcuffed him.  They questioned VN about who 
lived there; she answered that only she, JJT and her two daughters lived there.  The agents 
insisted on searching the home, even though VN said her 10- and 17-year old daughters were 
sleeping in the bedroom.  Wanting to shield her daughters from seeing JJT in handcuffs, VN 
asked why the agents would want to wake up her children. VN believed that, in order to stop the 
other ICE agents from going into the bedroom, a female ICE agent quickly looked into the room 
and confirmed that VN’s daughters were sleeping.  Additionally, VN guards the travel 
documents of everyone in the family, including JJT’s immediate family who live upstairs from 
them.  Not knowing these were ICE agents trying to deport JJT, she agreed to retrieve his 
documents.  She had to search for them in a bedroom with 5 ICE agents watching over her as 
she held a blanket to cover herself since she had just showered and was not fully clothed. 
 
Story 83 (SJ):​ In September 2015, ICE agents went to a home in Brooklyn, NY, pretending to 
be police looking for a suspect who had supposedly robbed banks, stolen identities and was 
recently arrested for stealing a limousine.  The family lived in a second floor apartment above a 
store.  SJ’s brother-in-law let the agents in when they stated they wanted to verify that the 
suspect they sought was not in the home.  The family then began to review photographs of 
strangers presented by the agents.  They explained that they did not know anyone shown but 
the agents insisted the suspect lived there.  When the agents then used SJ’s name, SJ’s 
16-year-old niece who had been translating for the family explained that her uncle’s name was 
“S” but that he was not home.  Nonetheless, the agents went to SJ’s room in the home and 
knocked on his door.  They asked for SJ’s phone number to talk to him and verify in person that 
he was not the man in the photograph.  The family called SJ to come home to clear his name. 
15 minutes later, the agents were waiting in front of the building when SJ walked up.  They 
immediately told him to put his hands behind his back and handcuffed him. 
 
Story 87 (RAC):​ In March 2014, approximately 9 ICE agents went to a home in Manhattan, NY 
around 6am.  RAC was renting a room in an apartment.  The officers knocked on the door and 
said, “Police.”  RAC opened up.  The officers entered the apartment and asked if he had any 



drugs or guns.  He said, “no.  They asked who else lived there and if they could search the 
apartment. RAC asked, “Who are you looking for?  What are you looking for?”  An officer then 
went into a pair of RAC’s pants he had hanging around and took out his identification.  At that 
point, he was handcuffed and told he was under arrest for an immigration violation.  Later that 
year, RAC was ordered deported. 
 
Story 89 (DZ):​ In April 2013, ICE agents went to a home in New York and presented 
themselves as police looking for a suspect.  DZ was not there and his wife, who was home 
alone, refused to let them enter.  The agents waited for a half hour outside the door until she 
finally let them into her kitchen.  They showed her a picture of a black man they were looking for 
and she explained she did not know him nor did he live there.  The agents asked about the 
whereabouts of her husband and son, the other residents of the apartment; she explained they 
were at work in Manhattan.  The agents asked to see her identification and if they could search 
her room.  She initially refused but then granted them access.  They searched under her bed 
and in her closet before saying everything was okay.  They asked her where DZ worked and 
left.  Approximately 20 minutes later, they detained him at work. 
 
Story 110 (EDI):​ In April 2014, 15 ICE agents went to a home around 6am and surrounded it 
with multiple police cars. The agents pressured EDI’s wife to get her husband, claiming they 
needed to speak to the owner of the white car outside.  She let them inside, where her children 
were present.  She reported that the officers occupied every room of the house, detained EDI, 
and then followed her through the home, forcing her to retrieve her husband’s passport and 
green card from a safe in the home.  The agents asked to see documents for everyone in the 
house, but she said they were all U.S. citizens and the officers did not press further. 
 
Story 116 (AB):​ In early 2012, 4 ICE agents went to a home in New York City.  Once inside the 
home, they said they were from immigration and asked AB if her mother or brother were home. 
Although her mother was downstairs, AB said no.  The agents began to search the home, 
entering AB’s U.S. citizen children’s room, taking the blanket off of them and shining flashlights 
in their faces.  They then threatened AB with deportation if she did not find her mother.  Shortly 
thereafter, the agents detained AB’s mother.  
 
Story 119 (ARV):​ In mid-2014, ICE agents came to ARV’s home in New York at 5:30am and 
detained him for removal proceedings in front of his wife, 6-year old U.S. citizen daughter, and 
9-year-old U.S. citizen daughter.  As friends of the family were leaving the home, ICE took 
advantage of the open door, asking if ARV resided there. Since the door was already open, the 
agents entered the apartment and arrested ARV.  ARV’s sole conviction was for driving under 
the influence of alcohol 10 years prior to the raid; nonetheless, the agents searched the home -- 
supposedly for weapons. 
 
Story 120 (AYM): ​In late 2013, around 5am, 6-7 ICE agents showed up at the Manhattan, NY 
home of AYM’s 72-year-old father who answered the door.  An agent told AYM’s father that 
someone was using his son’s green card and that there was some kind of warrant.  They 



showed AYM’s father a piece of paper with his son’s photo on it but the father could not read it. 
Other family members were home and ICE agents asked about AYMs whereabouts but no one 
knew where he was staying.  Everyone conveyed that AYM was not present; nonetheless, the 
agents searched the home.  AYM’s father panicked and told his son to go to 26 Federal Plaza to 
meet them.  The father also gave ICE agents his son’s phone number and the agents kept 
calling until AYM finally agreed to meet at Federal Plaza.  They detained him immediately at 26 
Federal Plaza. 
 
Story 128 (LAS):​ In March 2015, ICE agents went to LAS’ old neighborhood around 7:30am to 
look for him.  Upon arriving at LAS’ former apartment, they showed the current tenant LAS’ 
photograph and started searching the home without a warrant.  The tenant panicked and called 
LAS on the phone to tell him that Homeland Security was looking for him.  LAS asked the tenant 
to put the agents on the phone.  LAS spoke to them and gave his new address.  10 minutes 
later, 4 officers arrived and detained him. 
 
Story 160 (PHO): ​In December 2015, 3 ICE agents came to a home in Queens, NY before 8am 
pretending to be police.  A husband and wife were home with their sleeping children at the time. 
The wife refused to open the door.  The ICE agents kept banging and kicking to the point that 
they actually broke part of the door.  The husband, scared, ran towards the back window but 
ICE agents were there and pointed a gun at his head and said they would shoot if he did not 
open the door.  The wife opened the door; ICE agents -- dressed in jackets that said ICE -- 
entered, handcuffed the husband and started searching the home.  ICE agents entered the 
bedroom where the children were sleeping and checked under the bed and in the closets.  The 
agents were actually looking for a former housemate and, after much pleading and giving the 
phone number of the target, ICE let the wife and husband go.  Nonetheless, the agents took the 
residents’ names, dates of birth, and phone numbers.  
 
Story 173 (JG):​ Around 5am in February 2016, 10-12 ICE agents went to JG’s mother’s home 
in Queens, NY pretending to be police.  The officers showed JG’s mother a photograph of a 
stranger, claiming the person was a friend of her son’s and that they needed to speak with JG. 
JG’s mother explained that he did not live there.  The agents insisted on searching the whole 
house, including bathrooms and closets, despite her explanation that JG was not present.  They 
asked everyone in the home for identification to prove status, including JG’s U.S. citizen mother 
and aunt.  JG’s mother provided the agents with JG’s phone number, thinking they were police. 
The agents then repeatedly called JG with the same ruse and he provided his address.  Multiple 
officers arrived to JG’s home, drew their guns as he stepped out to meet them, and detained JG 
in his driveway. 
 
Story 200 (DJO):​ In March 2014, ICE agents went to a home in Queens, NY.  They told DJO 
they were police officers looking for someone and wanted her to identify a picture.  Once she let 
them into the home, they revealed they were from immigration.  She explained that she was 
home alone with her 7- and 10-year-old children who were sleeping.  They asked about the 



status of her children, searched the home for any other adults, and then told her to report to the 
local immigration office after dropping the children off at school. 
 
Story 211 (MOJ): ​Early one morning in 2013, MOJ’s wife heard knocking on the door of their 
apartment in the Bronx, NY.  She opened it without thinking much of it.  Officers in bulletproof 
vests immediately pushed past her and ran into the house, with at least one agent holding his 
gun out of the holster.  As she tried to figure out what was happening, they said, “Ma’am, just sit 
down.”  MOJ was in the living room and agents stopped to speak to him.  Another agent went 
into the bedroom area where MOJ’s 9- and 11-year old children were crying.  The agent ordered 
the children back into their rooms, stayed at the bedroom doors, and would not let MOJ or his 
wife move to comfort them.  MOJ’s wife was hysterical and asked repeatedly, “What is this 
about?”  The officers would not respond to her.  The agents retrieved clothes and identification 
from MOJ’s dresser drawer and handcuffed him in the hallway, which is when they told him who 
they were.  
 
Story 214 (JCS):​ In March 2016, ICE agents went to a home in the Bronx, NY in the morning. 
At the door, they encountered JCS’ fiancee’s sister who has developmental disabilities.  They 
did not identify as immigration authorities and said something about conducting an investigation 
and needing to look for a suspect.  The agents refused to let JCS’ fiancee get dressed before 
entering the bedroom, even though she was undressed and screaming.  They then detained 
JCS. 
 
Story 226 (CHMR):​ In October 2016, at least 5 ICE agents banged on the door of an apartment 
in Queens, NY around 5:40am.  They wore bulletproof vests with the word “POLICE” on them 
and the agents told her they were looking for CHMR.  She explained that he was at work and 
they requested to enter.  Once in the home, they asked her several questions about CHMR, 
including his schedule.  They then requested to search the home.  She asked who they were -- 
still unsure -- and they replied, “We can’t tell you who we are because we can’t discuss anything 
about the case.”  She allowed them to search and they looked in the bedroom, in a closet, 
behind and under the bed, and in the bathroom.  They left without identifying themselves as 
immigration authorities.  The next day, CHMR left for work as usual around 5:20am.  20 minutes 
later, 2 agents knocked on the door.  CHMR’s fiancee answered and they handed her CHMR’s 
backpack and wallet, explaining that they had detained him as he left the home. 
 
 
 
 



ICE Raids 
The impact on non-targets  

 
The following are a sample of reports of ICE agents harassing and terrorizing people who were 
not the target of the raid through threats, questioning, fingerprinting, and requesting identity 
documents. 
 
Reports of ICE agents unnecessarily scrutinizing the identity and 
documents of non-targets: 
 
Story 20 (ITZ)​: ICE agents went to a house in Staten Island, NY around 6am in December 
2015.  ITZ lived there with his partner, 3 children and other tenants.  ICE officers parked several 
black vehicles in front of the home and asked multiple tenants leaving for work for identification 
and access to the building.  When one tenant reentered the home to retrieve identification, an 
ICE agent followed him upstairs, knocked on all of the doors in the residence, reviewing 
identification and asking about the number of people in the home.  When ITZ’s partner showed 
ICE agents a “matricula,” they took a photograph of it on a phone.  They asked for ITZ’s 
identification and then detained him, falsely promising he would be released before work. 
 
Story 89 (DZ):​ In April 2013, 3 ICE agents went to a home and announced themselves as 
police.  DZ’s wife reluctantly allowed them into the home where they showed her a photograph 
of a stranger.  After explaining she did not know the person and was alone in the home, the 
agents questioned her about where her husband and son were at the time.  The agents asked 
to see her identification and requested to search the home.  She initially refused but then 
allowed them access after which they looked in various places, including under her bed and in 
her closet before leaving.  Twenty minutes later, they detained DZ at work at the address 
unwittingly provided by his wife. 
 
Story 112 (HEN):​ In April 2012, 4-5 ICE agents went to HEN’s home in New York City around 
7:20am.  HEN was there with a friend and getting her 7-year-old daughter ready for school.  The 
agents announced themselves as police, claiming they had to ask her a couple of questions and 
show her a couple of pictures.  HEN’s friend was the only other adult in the home.  The agents 
took her name and social security number, but HEN was unsure of whether the agents checked 
her friend’s immigration status.  The ICE agents detained HEN at her home that morning and 
she was released later that day. 
 
Story 122 (FOR):​ In late 2015, ICE went to a home in Bethlehem, PA. There were 4 men, 2 
women and FOR’s 3 year old autistic son in the home.  ICE agents fingerprinted all of the men 
before identifying FOR as the target and arresting him. 
 
Story 141 (UDO):​ In 2015, UDO’s coworker picked him up at his house in Jamaica, Queens. 
Minutes later, ICE agents in 4 unmarked cars pulled them over a few blocks from the house. 

 



The agents asked both of them for identification and then detained UDO, the passenger.  They 
then took a picture of UDO’s coworker’s license plate before leaving, even though the car did 
not belong to UDO nor was he the driver. 
 
Story 155 (ONP):​ ICE agents went to a home in Suffolk County in Long Island, NY in October 
2015.  Immigration agents had previously arrested someone living at the house; this time, they 
asked for someone who had not lived there for years.  Despite this information, ICE agents went 
around and took photographs of the identity documents of everyone in the home. 
 
Story 156 (IRA):​ In November 2015, 4 ICE agents went to a home in the Bronx, NY.  IRA’s 
roommate answered the door.  The agents said they had a warrant and the roommate allowed 
them to enter.  The agents detained IRA for removal proceedings but also took a photograph of 
the identification of IRA’s undocumented roommate who had let them into the home. 
 
Story 157 (FAF):​ In November 2015, ICE agents went to a home in the Bronx, NY early in the 
morning.  FAF’s father answered the door.  ICE agents lied and said they were police 
conducting an investigation.  Once inside the home, they asked both FAF and his father for 
identification.  FAF said he did not understand why they were doing this if they were just 
conducting an investigation.  ICE agents then detained FAF, falsely telling his mother that he 
would be coming back shortly. 
 
Story 160 (PHO): ​In December 2015, 3 ICE agents came to a home in Queens, NY before 8am 
pretending to be police.  When the current residents refused entry, the agents kicked down the 
door, forcing their way in.  The agents handcuffed the male tenant and began searching the 
home.   The agents were actually looking for someone who no longer lived there and, after 
much pleading and giving the phone number of the target, ICE let the couple go.  Nonetheless, 
the agents took the residents’ names, dates of birth, and phone numbers.  
 
Story 173 (JG):​ In February 2016, 10-12 ICE agents went to a home in Queens, NY before 
6am.  JG’s U.S. citizen mother answered the door.  They showed her a picture of a stranger, 
claiming it was JG’s friend and they needed to speak to JG about the person.  JG was not 
present nor did he live at the residence, which JG’s mother told the officers.  ICE agents 
nonetheless entered and, once inside, searched the entire house and made everyone present 
show identification to prove status, including JG’s mother and aunt. 
 
Story 176 (LUG):​ In early 2015, ICE agents knocked loudly on the door of a home in Queens, 
NY before 6am.  LUG’s aunt approached the door and the agents lied, claiming they were police 
looking for a fugitive in the building.  They entered the apartment and immediately saw LUG, 
who was sleeping on the sofa in the living room and handcuffed him.  After detaining LUG, 
agents fingerprinted another relative using a machine and, after 5-10 minutes, told him he was 
good.  Throughout the raid, an 8 year old child who was a part of the household was crying as 
he witnessed everything. 
 

 



Reports of ICE agents involving non-targets in the execution of raids, 
often using intimidation, hostility and/or deception: 
 
Story 14 (HEG):​ In April 2014, at 5am, approximately 10 ICE agents rang the bell of the private 
house in the Bronx, NY.   Agents yelled, “Open the door!  It is the police!”  They spoke to HEG’s 
sisters who were home and claimed that someone was using their brother’s identity/papers. 
HEG’s sister explained that he was not present.  An agent asked for them to call their brother. 
HEG’s sister called him, as he was at his girlfriend’s house.  She explained that “oficiales” 
(officials) were looking for him and that it was about identity theft.  Agents went a few blocks 
away to where HEG was and arrested him.  He was eventually ordered deported. 
 
Story 17 (PT):​ ​ In March 2014, 2 to 3 ICE agents went to a home in Brooklyn, NY very early in 
the morning.  The agents believed PT lived there but it was his sister’s address.  She answered 
and told them he did not live there.  Agents told PT’s sister that he had been the victim of some 
kind of identity or credit fraud and they had a warrant.  His sister called PT and he spoke to the 
officers over the phone.  Since PT worked in information technology (IT), he thought maybe his 
identity had been stolen, so he told officers to meet him at the local precinct.  The agents met 
PT outside of a precinct and arrested him, showing an administrative immigration warrant.  
 
Story 26 (QFI):​ In December 2015, 4 ICE agents banged on the door of a home in Queens, NY. 
They announced themselves as “federal police.”  QFI’s wife was home along with other adults 
and 3 children -- two of whom were autistic.  QFI was not present and his wife had an order of 
protection prohibiting him from contact with her.  The agents used a ruse to try to get her to 
locate him for them.  They asked her to call her husband for them.  She explained she did not 
know about her husband’s whereabouts nor was she in contact with him.  They continued trying 
to locate him and asked her to call her brother-in-law and tell him to have QFI call them.  She 
did, although she thought she was aiding police not immigration authorities.  QFI called the 
agents back.  Shortly thereafter, ICE arrested him at work. 
 
Story 29 (LIJ):​ In September 2015, ICE agents went to LIJ’s mother’s home in Brooklyn, NY. 
The agents convinced LIJ’s stepfather to give them LIJ’s phone number.  The agents called LIJ, 
pretending to be police, and said they needed to speak with him.  LIJ arranged to meet the 
agents downstairs from his apartment.  LIJ was getting his 3-year-old child ready for school and, 
since he did not anticipate being arrested, he carried her to meet them.  They escorted him 
upstairs.  LIJ asked his partner to take their daughter to another room so the child would not see 
what was happening.  The agents said he had to go with them and that it was just a formality. 
Despite trying to shield her, LIJ’s 3-year-old daughter asked, “Where is Daddy going?”  When 
the ICE agents kept LIJ in custody, his partner felt they took everything away from the family. 
She had waited until she was older to have children to ensure she had a partner who would play 
an equal part in parenting.  LIJ stayed home with their 1-year-old during the days while she 
worked and then worked nights and weekends as a truck driver.  For the month after the raid, 

 



their 3-year-old daughter kept saying she missed her “Daddy” and asking when he was coming 
back; LIJ’s partner admitted she didn’t know how to answer that question.  
 
Story 37 (FJE):​ In the early morning hours of August 2015, ICE agents began banging loudly 
on the front door of an apartment in the Bronx, NY.  FJE’s girlfriend GS opened the door and 
saw 5 officers in bulletproof vests that said POLICE.  The agents concocted a lie about their 
purpose and when GS stood back from the door momentarily, the officers just walked in without 
her verbal consent.  Once inside, GS tried to clarify that FJE had no warrants for his arrest. 
They dismissively told her to direct her questions to one particular officer as they handcuffed 
FJE.  They refused to provide their names or allow her to record any identifying information. 
When they showed her a paper that she believes was not a warrant, she asked, "Can I take a 
picture of what you showed me?"  The agent laughed and said absolutely not.  
 
Story 50 (ORT):​ In February 2015, around 5am, more than 6 ICE agents showed up to a home 
in Long Island, NY.  ORT’s brother-in-law answered the door.  The ICE agents said they were 
police and did not ask questions but instead pointed a gun at the brother-in-law’s face and 
eventually at ORT’s wife.  The officers also used force in that they pushed the person at the 
door aside.  ORT’s minor children were also present when this happened and they say that the 
ICE agents pointed a gun at their mother’s head.  They then detained ORT. 
 
Story 54 (WDA):​ In February 2015, ICE went to an address where WDA was present but no 
longer lived.  His mother-in-law and father-in-law lived there.  They showed his father-in-law a 
photograph of a stranger and, when the father-in-law stated he did not know the person, officers 
demanded to see everyone in the home.  When they saw WDA, they arrested him. 
 
Story 57 (YF): ​In 2015, ICE agents went to YF’s mother’s house.  They asked her who was 
living in the house and showed her a picture of a “suspect.”  YF’s mother said she lived with her 
children, naming each one.  ICE asked for the phone number of YF.  They then called him and 
met him at his job in Manhattan in the early morning where they detained him. 
 
Story 58 (AFP): ​In 2015, ICE agents came to a home in Manhattan, NY.  AFP’s sister answered 
the door.  The agents identified themselves as police.  They showed her a piece of paper with 
the AFP’s picture and told her to call her brother because someone was using his identity. 
Subject came back to the house and ICE then arrested him. 
 
Story 72 (MYC):​ In September 2015, 8 ICE agents went to a home in the Bronx, NY.  MYC 
answered the door and allowed the officers inside the home at which point they revealed they 
were from immigration and detained him.  MYC was especially devastated because his arrest 
forced him to leave his dying mother in the apartment alone.  At the time of the raid, she had 
kidney cancer and could not walk.  During processing, MYC was finally able to make a phone 
call to his cousin to arrange care for her. 
 

 



Story 76 (LG):​ In October 2015, ICE agents knocked loudly on the front door of a home in 
Queens, NY before 7am.  The agents presented themselves as police and LG’s sister asked to 
see a warrant to enter the home.  They asked for LG and told her they didn’t need one and that 
she had to open the door.  They threatened that if LG did not come outside, they would knock 
down the door.  As she resisted opening the door, they acted more aggressively, yelling and 
banging loudly on the outside door as well as windows of the home.  Eventually, LG heard 
commotion and came down from the second floor of the home.  When he opened the door, the 
agents said they were from ICE and arresting him. 
 
Story 78 (CSL): ​In March 2015, ICE agents went to CSL’s sisters home in Manhattan, NY and 
pretended to be investigating identity theft.  They explained that they needed to speak to CSL 
about this and her sister eventually provided CSL’s address.  Shortly thereafter, the agents went 
to CSL’s apartment, asked her to step into the hallway and detained her. 
 
Story 79 (JOS): ​In March 2015, around 6am, 8 or 9 ICE agents came to a home in the Bronx, 
NY.  JOS’ partner, MP, answered the door, thinking it was her daughter who had just left for 
work.  The ICE agents, who were armed, presented themselves as police and said that they 
wanted to talk because they were investigating something in the building.  MP said, “What does 
that have to do with me?”  They said they were looking for someone and so she let them into 
the home.  2 officers entered and the others stayed in the hallway.  They asked who was home 
and at that moment, JOS stepped out of his room to see what was going on.  They immediately 
asked him for ID and handcuffed him in front of his loved ones.  MP remembers her son crying 
and how scared she was, noting, “So many [officers] for one person.”  She also expressed 
frustration, saying, “If my partner received a letter saying that he had to report to ICE, he 
would’ve gone to it. But, he didn’t receive a letter from ICE saying that he had to show up.” 
 
Story 82 (JJT):​ Just before dawn, ICE came to the Bronx, NY home of JJT and his cousin VN. 
JJT let the agents in and they immediately handcuffed him.  They questioned VN about who 
lived there; she answered that only she, JJT and her two daughters lived there.  The agents 
insisted on searching the home, even though VN said her 10- and 17-year old daughters were 
sleeping in the bedroom.  Wanting to shield her daughters from seeing JJT in handcuffs, VN 
asked why the agents would want to wake up her children. VN believed that, in order to stop the 
other ICE agents from going into the bedroom, a female ICE agent quickly looked into the room 
and confirmed that VN’s daughters were sleeping.  Additionally, VN guards the travel 
documents of everyone in the family, including JJT’s immediate family who live upstairs from 
them.  Not knowing these were ICE agents trying to deport JJT, she agree to retrieve his 
documents.  She had to search for them in a bedroom with 5 ICE agents watching over her as 
she held a blanket to cover herself since she had just showered and was not fully clothed.  They 
claimed to VN that JJT would be back shortly, but he was detained and eventually ordered 
deported. 
 
Story 83 (SJ):​ In September 2015, ICE agents went to a home in Brooklyn, NY, pretending to 
be police looking for a suspect who had supposedly robbed banks, stolen identities and was 

 



recently arrested for stealing a limousine.  The family let them in and reviewed photographs of 
strangers, explaining they did not know any of those people.  SJ’s 16-year-old niece began 
translating for the family and agents.  The agents insisted the family knew and was hiding the 
suspect.  The officers said that the suspect used the name “SJ.”  When the family heard SJ’s 
name, they said it wasn’t him but the officers insisted they needed to see him to clear his name 
and went to his bedroom.  They tried to get in but the door was locked and the 16 year-old 
niece, wanting to clear her uncle’s name, called SJ to come home to clear his name.  As soon 
as SJ returned, he was detained and the agents revealed they were from ICE.  Since the raid, 
SJ’s niece sought psychological therapy because she felt responsible for her uncle's arrest. 
She and SJ’s 11-year-old nephew have since felt anxiety about other family members being 
deported.  The family could no longer afford their apartment without SJ and feared ICE’s return; 
so, they moved after the raid.  SJ’s sister, Janet, reported that she is hesitant about any knocks 
on the door and, if something were to happen, she is now too scared to call police.  She 
explained that she would not know who to call because when officers showed up, she would not 
know to trust whether it was NYPD or ICE. 
 
Story 86 (BKO):​ In April 2014, ICE agents showed up to a home in Brooklyn, NY at 
approximately 5:30am.  BKO was not present but his mother and children were there.  4 agents 
pretending to be police showed his mother pictures at the door, including some of strangers and 
one of him.  She explained that he was not there. The officers came back that afternoon and 
knocked on the door, again looking for BKO who was not home. 
 
Story 89 (DZ):​ In April 2013, ICE agents presented themselves as police looking for a suspect. 
DZ was not there and his wife, who was home alone, did not want to let officers into the home. 
The agents waited for a half hour outside the door until she finally let them in.  They then 
questioned her about his whereabouts and detained him twenty minutes later at work. 
 
Story 93 (MRG):​ In January 2014, several ICE agents began banging on the door of a 
Manhattan, NY apartment in the morning.  Everyone inside woke up and got out of bed.  MRG’s 
mother asked for a warrant from the officers.  The ICE agents said they don’t have a warrant but 
“if they have to get one, they will destroy this place.”  MRG’s mother then allowed them in.  They 
saw MRG and lied, claiming they needed to take him to the precinct to question him about 
another case.  After contacting the precinct hours later, the family learned there was no record 
of her son and MRG called shortly thereafter from immigration detention. 
 
Story 104 (IRL):​ In July 2016, ICE agents went to a home in San Jose, CA around 6:50am. 
IRL’s parents, ages 72 and 68, were sitting outside peeling cacti.  The agents, pretending to be 
police and probation officers, asked for IRL.  His mother went inside and spoke to NML, IRL’s 
sister.  NML, from inside the apartment, pressed them to show identification and a warrant. 
They did neither and lied, claiming IRL had missed a probation appointment.  NML refused them 
entry.  IRL called his probation officer who said he had not sent anyone from their office but 
guessed it might be ICE.  The agents outside then admitted they were from ICE.  Even though 
the family said IRL did not want to speak with them, the agents remained outside.  At one point, 

 



an ICE officer asked NML if she was an attorney because “she talked so much.”  After 2 hours, 
the family thought ICE would not leave until IRL met them.  IRL was able to get his immigration 
lawyer to speak to the agents and they finally left.  The family felt unsafe and anxious at the 
agents’ persistence.  IRL’s parents feared they would be evicted because of all the commotion 
and because ICE officers had initially approached the property manager to gain permission to 
enter the apartment complex.  IRL’s father began to feel ill due to the mounting anxiety and had 
to be taken to the hospital later that afternoon. 
 
Story 110 (EDI):​ In April 2014, 15 ICE agents went to a home around 6am and surrounded it 
with multiple police cars. The agents pressured EDI’s wife to get her husband, claiming they 
needed to speak to the owner of the white car outside.  She let them inside, where her children 
were present.  She reported that the officers occupied every room of the house, detained EDI, 
and then followed her through the home, forcing her to retrieve her husband’s passport and 
green card from a safe in the home.  The agents asked to see documents for everyone in the 
house, but she said they were all U.S. citizens and the officers did not press further. 
 
Story 114 (JAT): ​In March 2016, ICE agents went to JAT’s previous residence in California. 
They asked the property manager to call JAT from his personal phone so they could speak with 
JAT.  Around 5:40am, JAT received that call.  ICE agents told JAT they were police who needed 
to review proof he had finished his classes for a driving under the influence of alcohol 
conviction.  Feeling confident because of his compliance, JAT agreed to meet.  When he 
arrived, he was ordered out of his car, handcuffed and thrown on the floor by two agents who 
only then identified themselves as immigration authorities.  
 
Story 118 (TCL):​ ICE agents went to the Brooklyn home of TCL’s elderly mother.  When she 
answered the door, they said TCL’s name but showed a photograph of someone else.  She 
explained that the name was her son’s name but he was not the person in the photograph.  She 
also told them that her son was not home and did not live there.  The agents told her to call him 
and have him meet them outside the home to clear this up.  She complied and when TCL 
arrived, the agents immediately arrested him. 
 
Story 119 (ARV):​ In June 2014, around 5:30am, 3 ICE agents in police jackets approached 2 
family friends who lived with ARV and were leaving the home.  The agents approached the 2 
residents outside of the home, asked if ARV lived there, and since the door was still open, 
entered to detain ARV in the presence of his wife and two young daughters. 
 
Story 120 (AYM): ​In late 2013, around 5am, 6-7 ICE agents showed up at the Manhattan, NY 
home of AYM’s 72-year-old father who answered the door.  An agent told AYM’s father that 
someone was using his son’s green card and that there was some kind of warrant.  They 
showed AYM’s father a piece of paper with his son’s photo on it but the father could not read it. 
Other family members were home and ICE agents asked about AYMs whereabouts but no one 
knew where he was staying.  Everyone conveyed that AYM was not present; nonetheless, the 
agents searched the home.  AYM’s father panicked and told his son to go to 26 Federal Plaza to 

 



meet them.  The father also gave ICE agents his son’s phone number and the agents kept 
calling until AYM finally agreed to meet at Federal Plaza.  They detained him immediately at 26 
Federal Plaza. 
 
Story 126 (ACA): ​In March 2015, ICE agents went to a home in San Francisco, CA.  They did 
not identify as immigration officers but instead said they had a report that someone was using 
the address for criminal activity.  When a resident opened the door, the agents would not say 
who they were looking for and threatened to come into the house to search if they were not 
provided with the identifications of everyone living in the house. 
 
Story 128 (LAS):​ In March 2015, ICE agents went to LAS’ old neighborhood around 7:30am to 
look for him.  Upon arriving at LAS’ former apartment, they showed the current tenant LAS’ 
photograph and started searching the home without a warrant.  The tenant panicked and called 
LAS on the phone to tell him that Homeland Security was looking for him.  LAS asked the tenant 
to put the agents on the phone.  LAS spoke to them and gave his new address.  10 minutes 
later, 4 officers arrived and detained him. 
 
Story 133 (TAV): ​In August 2016, ICE agents went to a home in Queens, NY at 6am.  TAV’s 
girlfriend opened the door to the apartment, as TAV was still in bed.  The officer claimed that he 
was there to speak to TAV about a surcharge of $150 owed to a court.  TAV came to the door 
and when asked for a warrant, the agent asked TAV to come with them and threatened, “If you 
don’t, we are going to come back and arrest everyone.”  Three officers then escorted TAV out of 
the apartment, agreeing not to handcuff him inside.  Once in the lobby, one agent forcibly took 
him to the ground and said, “I’m ICE.  You’re going to get deported.”  TAV’s girlfriend came 
downstairs and saw the officer pushing TAV to the floor.  She started crying and yelling, at 
which point another agent drew a gun on her and told her to shut up.  They then handcuffed 
TAV and took him outside. 
 
Story 135 (ASAK): ​In October 2016, ICE agents went to a two-story multi-family Queens, NY 
home before 6am.  They knocked on the door of ASAK’s downstairs neighbor who denied them 
entry without a warrant.  So, the agents kept banging until ASAK's wife woke up and came out 
to speak with them.  She explained that ASAK was out walking the dog and stopping at the 
store, but they kept pressing her on whether he was inside.  They showed her a picture of a 
black man with dreadlocks and asked if she knew him or thought her husband might know him. 
When she said she did not know the person, they asked for the name of the store where ASAK 
was and for his phone number.  She gave them his number and 2 officers said they were going 
to walk up the block to see him.  They approached ASAK, asking about the dog.  Then, a 
number of officers ran up and detained him.  They would not let ASAK’s wife walk outside and 
minutes later, they handed her the dog and said they were taking him in.  She asked if they 
could tell her what was going on.  They said no, that they were from immigration and ASAK 
would call her later. 
 

 



Story 140 (STR):​ In 2015, a family in Harlem, NY reported that ICE agents were coming to the 
home of various family members looking for STR. 
 
Story 146 (CAF): ​In Fall 2015, ICE agents called CAF pretending to be officials from a court 
asking for his current address.  CAF provided his mother’s address in the Bronx, NY.  Agents 
showed up the next day at 6am.  They showed his mother a photograph of a stranger.  When 
she said she did not know the person, agents said there is something going on that we are 
investigating and asked if she knew this person, while showing a photograph of CAF.  She 
replied that the person in the second photograph was her son.  They said that someone is 
probably using his identity and they need to speak with him.  She asked them to leave a phone 
number.  They refused to give a number and said they would come back another day. 
 
Story 160 (PHO):​ In December 2015, 3 ICE agents came to a home in Queens, NY before 8am 
pretending to be police.  A husband and wife were home with their sleeping children at the time. 
The wife refused to open the door.  The ICE agents kept banging and kicking to the point that 
they actually broke part of the door.  The husband, scared, ran towards the back window but 
ICE agents were there and pointed a gun at his head and said they would shoot if he did not 
open the door.  The wife opened the door; ICE agents -- dressed in jackets that said ICE -- 
entered, handcuffed the husband and started searching the home.  ICE agents entered the 
bedroom where the children were sleeping and checked under the bed and in the closets.  The 
agents were actually looking for a former housemate and, after much pleading and giving the 
phone number of the target, ICE let the couple go.  Nonetheless, the agents took the residents’ 
names, dates of birth, and phone numbers.  
 
Story 162 (BCCA):​ In early 2016, ICE agents went to a home in Staten Island, NY around 6am 
while BCCA’s children were asleep.  The officers yelled outside of the door for about an hour, 
but they could not produce a warrant when requested and BCCA’s partner refused them entry 
into the home.  A few weeks later, the agents returned around 8am and detained BCCA as he 
left for work. 
 
Story 164 (RUC):​ In February 2016, ICE agents went to a home in Georgia around 5:30am as 
RUC’s fiancée was leaving for work.  As she got into her car, ICE agents pulled a vehicle into 
her driveway and blocked her truck.  She asked them to identify themselves and they pulled out 
a photograph of a stranger.  When she explained that she did not recognize the person, they 
asked her to call her partner and have him come outside to help identify the man in the 
photograph or else they would not move.  Naively, she called him outside and the ICE agents 
immediately handcuffed RUC.   ICE agents also told her that she could not leave the home now 
or they would report her to DFACS (Dept of Family & Children Services).  She was wracked with 
guilt, as she did not know she was handing RUC over to authorities who would try to deport him. 
 
Story 167 (HIM): ​In March 2016, ICE agents in plainclothes went to a home in Long Island, NY 
claiming to be police.  HIM’s wife answered and they told her they were looking for someone but 
would not state any names.  HIM’s wife explained that only she, her children and her mother 

 



lived in the home and refused to let them in.  The agents then talked to the tenants downstairs 
who told the officers that HIM had lived there but no longer does.  The agents sat outside of the 
home for hours on that day.  HIM’s wife sought an advocate’s help, as she reported the agents 
followed her to work and were bothering the family in their pursuit of HIM.  
 
Story 172 (LIL):​ In April 2016, ICE agents showed up at the Dallas, TX home of LIL and his 
U.S. citizen wife.  When asked for a warrant, the agents admitted they did not have one but 
wanted to take LIL into custody even though he had no criminal history and a pending green 
card application sponsored by his wife.  LIL’s wife came outside to speak with them.  They 
questioned whether her husband had converted her to Islam.  She explained that she grew up 
Muslim.  They asked where her parents were from and she explained her family contained 
generations of Americans.  They continued to ask where her family was from before those 
generations to which she explained that they were African-Americans likely brought to the U.S. 
as slaves.  When she asked for their card so that they could speak to the family’s lawyer, the 
agent refused, saying, “We don’t give cards to people like you.”  As they were leaving, they 
threatened her, claiming that she was harboring an illegal alien and that they would remember 
her failure to cooperate -- particularly when it came to LIL’s bond. 
 
Story 177 (EGM): ​In March 2016, ICE agents called EGM’s brother from an unknown number 
around 6:30am pretending to be Bronx police (i.e. NYPD) and claiming they needed EGM to 
look at photographs related to a criminal case.  ICE agents arrested EGM as he left his home 
that same morning. 
 
Story 188 (MH):​ In August 2015, ICE agents went to a home in Manhattan, NY to arrest MH. 
The family asked the officers to present a warrant to enter the residence.  ICE agents 
threatened that they will come back with a warrant and they will rip the house apart.  A week 
later, ICE agents arrested MH as he walked out of the home on his way to the store. 
 
Story 189 (KC):​ In May 2014, when ICE agents went to KC’s home in Queens, NY.  They 
began the raid by conducting a ruse on the tenants downstairs in the building, showing them a 
photograph of someone who was not KC but asking for him by his name.  The agents then went 
upstairs and detained KC in the presence of his wife and 2 young daughters. 
 
Story 209 (DAZ):​ In May 2016, ICE agents went to a home in Long Island, NY around 6am. 
DAZ’s wife answered the door and agents, identifying themselves as Nassau County police, 
said they needed DAZ’s help with an investigation into a crime that occurred.  So, she allowed 
them into the home, thinking little of it since she knew he was not involved in any crime.  DAZ 
was getting ready for work and once inside the home, the agents showed a photograph of DAZ. 
The family asked for a warrant and the agents said it was in the car.  They detained DAZ.  His 
wife saw that, outside of the home, there were several Nassau police cars as well as unmarked 
cars.  DAZ was the sole breadwinner for his wife and 4 children.  So, his wife reported that she 
was having trouble paying rent and bills as soon as he was detained and could not afford legal 
counsel for him. 

 



 
Story 210 (MAI):​ In May 2016, 6 ICE agents went to a home in PA.  They rang the bell at 6am 
and waited for 45 minutes until MAI’s mother came out and explained that MAI was at work. 
The agents asked her to call him and she did.  They spoke to him and asked to meet right away. 
He did and was detained immediately. 
 
Story 214 (JCS):​ In March 2016, ICE agents went to a home in the Bronx, NY in the morning. 
At the door, they encountered JCS’ fiancee’s sister who has developmental disabilities.  They 
did not identify as immigration authorities and said something about conducting an investigation 
and needing to look for a suspect.  The agents refused to let JCS’ fiancee get dressed before 
entering the bedroom, even though she was undressed and screaming.  They then detained 
JCS. 
 
Story 218 (WED):​ In 2012, approximately 6 armed ICE agents came to WED’s apartment in 
Brooklyn, NY.  They approached WED as she walked up to the apartment, asking if he was 
home.  When they saw WED, they said they had a warrant for his arrest, although they did not 
show paperwork.  WED couldn’t understand what was happening, as he kept asking why they 
were taking him and saying he hadn’t been in trouble in 10 years, but the agents refused to 
answer. 
 
Story 219 (JILS):​ On March 17, 2016, JILS was a passenger in a car that ICE agents stopped 
on the road in New Orleans, LA.  The agents asked the driver for his name, then said, “Yep, we 
got him.”  While they detained the driver, agents asked the passengers to step out of the car 
one-by-one and then handcuffed them.  The agents did not ask for identification or explain why 
they were under arrest.  When JILS questioned what was happening, the agents claimed he 
was not under arrest and they were merely inspecting the vehicle.  They then shackled his 
ankles, took off the handcuffs and fingerprinted him.  Nearly 3 hours later, they told him he was 
being arrested because he had previously been deported.  They transferred him to an ICE 
office, told him he did not have a right to anything when he asked for a lawyer or bond.  He was 
detained, then released on an order of supervision a month later.  In May 2016, at his regular 
check-in for the order of supervision, agents pushed him against a wall, detained him, and told 
him he would be prosecuted for federal criminal charges of illegal reentry.  JILS had no prior 
criminal record. 
 
Story 220 (WDC):​ On March 22, 2016, WDC woke up to 6 ICE agents entering his apartment in 
New Orleans, LA.  They demanded his name and identification.  Despite explaining that he 
could get his passport from his car, they did not permit him to leave the apartment.  When he 
asked who they were looking for, the agents did not answer.  They surrounded him, forcefully 
grabbed his hand and fingerprinted him without his consent.  The agents began to search the 
apartment.  WDC feared they would scare his partner and son, especially as the officers started 
yelling at them.  When his partner asked him for the phone number of a local advocacy group 
(Congress of Day Laborers), an agent scoffed, "Another one of those people from the 
Congress."  They taunted him and laughed, promising, "We're going to deport you."  They 

 



moved quickly as his wife looked for the phone number, handcuffing him at his hands, waist and 
ankles in front of his son who was watching from the window.  On April 27, 2016, advocates 
submitted a request for prosecutorial discretion.  Immediately, WDC’s phone and commissary 
accounts were locked.  A few hours later, ICE transferred him to another facility and he was told 
he was facing federal criminal charges of illegal reentry. 
 
Story 221 (LGR): ​LGR and his cousin HR were at HR’s father’s house in New Orleans, LA 
getting ready for work around 7am.  They were loading tools into a relative’s truck to prepare for 
their jobs as day laborers.  HR went to the backyard to get more tools while LGR waited in the 
parking area.  When LGR went to open the car door, an ICE agent grabbed him from behind by 
the collar.  The agent asked his name and whether he lived in the house next door.  LGR gave 
the agent his address.  The agent said, "Don't worry.  You're not who we are looking for," but 
handcuffed him.  The agents detained him and HR.  After driving a few blocks in a vehicle, the 
agents pulled them out of the vehicle and shackled their hands, waists and feet.  After 
questioning at the ICE Field Office, LGR was charged with illegal reentry and detained.  He was 
deported to Honduras after 135 days in detention. 
 
Story 222 (HR):​ HR and his cousin LGR were at HR’s father’s house in New Orleans, LA 
getting ready for work around 7am.  They were loading tools into a truck to prepare for their jobs 
as day laborers.  HR went to the backyard to get more tools from a shed.  Before HR returned, 
ICE agents forcibly grabbed LGR and fingerprinted HR's father.  When HR walked back from 
the backyard, he saw ICE agents and they ordered him to his knees at gunpoint and then 
handcuffed him.  Agents drove for about three blocks before taking HR and LGR out of the 
vehicle and shackling their hands, waists and feet.  He was taken to an ICE Field Office in New 
Orleans, questioned, then charged with illegal reentry. 
 
Story 224 (SSM):​ In August 2016, ICE agents went to a home in Brooklyn, NY around 7am. 
SSM’s mother answered the door and the agents, who did not identify as ICE, showed her a 
picture of a stranger and asked if anyone had seen that person.  When she explained she did 
not recognize the person, the agents asked if she was the owner of the house.  She brought 
SSM’s grandmother, the owner, to the agents.  SSM’s grandmother let them into the home and 
they asked for SSM, who then came downstairs.  He was living there with his siblings, girlfriend 
and their two young children.  The officers asked his name and for identification.  When he went 
upstairs to retrieve his identification, the agents followed him up.  When he took out the 
identification, they placed him under arrest.  They refused to answer questions until SSM’s 
grandmother asked why they were arresting him.  They said, “immigration.”  SSM’s children 
were sleeping in the home at the time but his younger siblings were awake and crying as the 
agents detained him and took him out of the home. 
 
Story 225 (AL):​ On November 22, 2013, AL received a call from his brother around 6am saying 
that the warrant squad was at their mother’s Brooklyn, NY apartment.  They showed a 
photograph of a stranger and said they were looking for “AL.”  AL’s brother then put the agents 
on the phone with AL. They said they were from the warrant squad and needed to verify that the 

 



person in the photograph was not him.  AL said he was not in the area but agreed to meet at a 
specific location.  The agents showed up in 4 unmarked cars and a truck and AL was standing 
on the street.  About 10 officers exited.  An agent showed AL a photograph of a stranger and AL 
confirmed it was not him.  The agent displayed AL’s photograph and said, “But ​this​  is you.”  He 
then said AL was going to get deported.  Agents surrounded him with their guns in their hands 
but pointed to the ground and detained him.  When AL refused to tell them where he was 
staying, the agents started knocking on doors of all the houses on the street and AL believes a 
neighbor told them where he was staying.  They then banged on his girlfriend's door as they put 
AL in a truck.  They kept calling him names and putting him down, saying, "You're a fucking 
criminal," "Fucking immigrant," "You're a piece of shit," and "You're going to get deported."  AL 
was eventually released from ICE custody after filing a federal habeas petition but still faces 
deportation. 
 
Story 226 (CHMR):​ In October 2016, at least 5 ICE agents banged on the door of an apartment 
in Queens, NY around 5:40am.  They wore bulletproof vests with the word “POLICE” on them 
and the agents told her they were looking for CHMR.  She explained that he was at work and 
they requested to enter.  Once in the home, they asked her several questions about CHMR, 
including his schedule, and searched the home even though she told them he was not present. 
They left without identifying themselves as immigration authorities.  The next day, CHMR left for 
work as usual around 5:20am.  20 minutes later, 2 agents knocked on the door.  CHMR’s 
fiancee answered and they handed her CHMR’s backpack and wallet, explaining that they had 
detained him as he left the home. 
 
Reports of ICE agents conducting raids in front of, involving or 
impacting children in the home: 
 
Story 18 (JS):​ In October 2015, ICE agents went to a home in Staten Island, NY in the morning. 
JS was asleep with his 4-year-old son in a bedroom.  His partner was awake and heard agents 
knocking repeatedly on the door and window, announcing themselves as police.  She spoke 
with them through the window and said someone had been using their address and they 
needed to look for the person.  Assuming they were looking for someone upstairs, JS’s partner 
opened the door and the agents walked in. They then identified themselves as immigration 
officers, asked who was home, and when she told them where JS was, the officers walked into 
the bedroom and arrested him in the presence of his son.  JS’s detention was particularly hard 
on the 4-year-old who was very close to his father.  The family always called the little one 
“chicle” (gum in spanish) because from the moment JS would get home, his son would follow 
him around, stuck to him and holding onto his pants.  While JS was detained, his son would stay 
up at night at the window waiting for his father to come home.  JS was eventually released on 
bond and, even since coming home home, his son sometimes hugs JS and cries when he 
leaves for work because he is worried he will not see his father again.  
 

 



Story 19 (MP): ​In October 2015, 5 ICE agents in blue uniforms came to a home in Staten 
Island, NY around 7am.  MP’s partner was making breakfast for their children and answered the 
door.  Agents showed her a picture of someone she didn’t know and said they were looking for 
that person.  When said that she didn’t recognize him, they asked her if they could come in and 
said it was “routine” to ask a few questions and take down the report. When they came in, MP 
walked into the room.  When they saw MP, they asked him for ID, told him to change and 
arrested him in the home with his partner and children present.  
 
Story 25 (SLN):​ In Winter 2015, ICE agents went to a home in Long Island, NY at 
approximately 5am.  SLN and his girlfriend, who was 9 months pregnant at the time, were 
already awake because she had started having contractions.  All of a sudden, they saw 
flashlights around their window, which disturbed them because it meant someone had jumped 
the locked gate outside of the apartment.  SLN went to the door and opened it to see what was 
going on.  ICE agents rushed the door without asking for permission to enter or identifying 
themselves.  They began to look all over the apartment with flashlights as the couple asked who 
they were and what they were doing.  The agents refused to answer questions.  One asked SLN 
for his name and demanded to see a piece of mail as proof.  They then handcuffed SLN as his 
girlfriend begged them to stop, explaining that she was on the verge of giving birth.  One agent 
told her to stop crying and another got in her face, yelling at her not to touch SLN.  SLN’s 
girlfriend said they couldn’t just arrest him because she needed him there and the officers 
laughed at her.  She was left distraught, all alone, and totally confused as to why they had 
arrested SLN. Due to her elevated stress, she had to have an emergency c-section the next 
day.  
 
Story 29 (LIJ):​ In September 2015, ICE agents went to LIJ’s mother’s home in Brooklyn, NY. 
The agents convinced LIJ’s stepfather to give them LIJ’s phone number.  The agents called LIJ, 
pretending to be police, and said they needed to speak with him.  LIJ arranged to meet the 
agents downstairs from his apartment.  LIJ was getting his 3-year-old child ready for school and, 
since he did not anticipate being arrested, he carried her to meet them.  They escorted him 
upstairs.  LIJ asked his partner to take their daughter to another room so the child would not see 
what was happening.  The agents said he had to go with them and that it was just a formality. 
Despite trying to shield her, LIJ’s 3-year-old daughter asked, “Where is Daddy going?”  When 
the ICE agents detained LIJ, his partner felt they took everything away from the family.  She had 
waited until she was older to have children to ensure she had a partner who would play an 
equal part in parenting.  LIJ stayed home with their 1-year-old during the days while she worked 
and then worked nights and weekends as a truck driver.  For the month after the raid, their 
3-year-old daughter kept saying she missed her “Daddy” and asking when he was coming back; 
LIJ’s partner admitted she didn’t know how to answer that question.  
 
Story 50 (ORT):​ More than 6 ICE agents showed up before 6am at a home in Long Island, NY 
in February 2015.  ORT’s brother-in-law answered the door.  Agents pointed a gun at him and 
then at ORT’s wife’s head in front of ORT’s minor children, a fact that the children recalled after 
the raid. 

 



 
Story 77 (KMR):​ In September 2015, ICE agents came to a home in Waterbury, CT in the 
morning.  KMR’s 13-year-old step-daughter answered the door and saw 5 officers in protective 
vests with the word “POLICE” on them.  The agents asked who lived in the home and on the 
floor above.  They asked her age and showed her a photograph of a stranger she did not 
recognize.  They asked her if “M” lived there, using KMR’s middle name.  She said yes and they 
asked her to get him.  She went to the bedroom and got her mother who woke KMR up and told 
him to go to the door to speak with police. When KMR stepped into the hallway, the agents 
identified themselves as ICE and arrested him. 
 
Story 82 (JJT):​ Just before dawn, ICE came to the Bronx, NY home of JJT and his cousin VN. 
JJT let the agents in and they immediately handcuffed him.  They questioned VN about who 
lived there; she answered that only she, JJT and her two daughters lived there.  The agents 
insisted on searching the home, even though VN said her 10- and 17-year old daughters were 
sleeping in the bedroom.  Wanting to shield her daughters from seeing JJT in handcuffs, VN 
asked why the agents would want to wake up her children. VN believed that, in order to stop the 
other ICE agents from going into the bedroom, a female ICE agent quickly checked and 
confirmed that VN’s daughters were sleeping.  
 
Story 83 (SJ):​ In September 2015, ICE agents went to a home in Brooklyn, NY, pretending to 
be police looking for a suspect who had supposedly robbed banks, stolen identities and was 
recently arrested for stealing a limousine.  The family let them in and reviewed photographs of 
strangers.  SJ’s 16-year-old niece began translating for the family and agents.  When the agents 
then used SJ’s name, the family called SJ to come home to clear his name.  As soon as SJ 
returned, he was detained and the agents revealed they were from ICE.  Since the raid, SJ’s 
niece sought therapy with a psychologist because she felt responsible for her uncle's arrest as 
she was translating and the one who called him back to the home.  She has also since suffered 
from depression, headaches and anxiety about other family members being deported. 
 
Story 94 (KMA):​ In November 2013, ICE agents went to a home before 6am.  KMA’s wife and 3 
children (ages 15, 12 and 6) were present.  The agents told the 4 of them to go into a bedroom 
and said they wanted to talk to KMA.  The agents then detained KMA.  KMA’s wife remembers 
the children crying, pleading, telling ICE not to take their dad and that he was a good person. 
 
Story 101 (LMA):​ In October 2012, 5 armed ICE agents forced their way into a home in 
Brooklyn with only an administrative warrant.  They arrested LMA in front of his 7-year-old son 
and his 23-year-old stepdaughter.  The agents escorted him through the house to get his green 
card and when LMA began to weep as he was placed in handcuffs, an officer told him to “be a 
man” and not let his son see him cry.  As the 7-year-old cried and began to panic, an agent 
said, “Hey man, it’s not that serious,” and LMA’s stepdaughter screamed at them not to address 
the child again.  When LMA’s step-daughter tried to take the child to the bathroom, agents 
followed them and ordered them not to leave the apartment.  After the raid, LMA’s son became 
fearful of the doorbell and police, thinking his family members would be taken away.  He was 

 



then evaluated and found to have post-traumatic stress disorder, depression, acute anxiety, and 
feelings of self-hatred. 
 
Story 110 (EDI): ​In April 2014, 15 ICE agents went to a home around 6am and surrounded it 
with multiple police cars. EDI’s wife and 17 year old son answered the door.  The agents 
pressured EDI’s wife to let them inside. She did and her other children were present during the 
raid.  The officers occupied every room of the house, detained EDI, and then followed her 
through the home, forcing her to retrieve her husband’s documents from a safe in the home. 
The agents asked to see documents for everyone in the house, but she said they were all U.S. 
citizens and the officers did not press further. 
 
Story 111 (NAL):​ In July 2012, ICE agents went to a home in New York City looking for NAL, 
who was 56 years old at the time.  She was home with her partner and 8-year-old daughter who 
had down syndrome during the raid.  The agents detained her -- even though she was the 
primary caretaker for the child -- and eventually, after processing, released her later that day. 
 
Story 115 (LEX):​ Around 6am, 3 male ICE agents showed up at a home and presented 
themselves as police with a warrant to a 16-year-old boy who answered the door.  Shortly 
thereafter, they detained LEX at the home where a 7-year-old boy and the children’s 
grandmother were also present. 
 
Story 116 (AB):​ In early 2012, 4 ICE agents went to a home in New York City.  Once inside the 
home, they said they were from immigration and asked AB if her mother or brother were home. 
Although her mother was downstairs, AB said no.  The agents began to search the home, 
entering AB’s U.S. citizen children’s room, taking the blanket off of them and shining flashlights 
in their faces.  They then threatened AB with deportation if she did not find her mother.  Shortly 
thereafter, the agents detained AB’s mother.  AB reported that her children were traumatized by 
the experience, with the oldest entering therapy.  AB’s daughter’s grades suffered and she 
began acting out in school.  AB’s 8-year-old son started to isolate himself and her 7-year-old 
started to fear police, telling his grandmother she had to go whenever he saw police. 
 
Story 119 (ARV):​ In May 2014, ARV’s 16-year-old daughter crossed the U.S. border, fleeing 
from Honduras.  She was placed in a shelter for minors and they contacted ARV to retrieve his 
daughter.  ARV went to Texas and submitted fingerprints to verify his identity.  2 weeks later, 
ICE agents came to his home in New York and detained him for removal proceedings in front of 
his wife, 6-year old U.S. citizen daughter, and 9-year-old U.S. citizen daughter.  ARV’s sole 
conviction was for driving under the influence of alcohol 10 years prior for which he completed 
mandated classes. 
 
Story 121 (GM):​ On August 1, 2014, around 6am, ICE agents began banging on the windows 
of the single family home GM owned.  GM woke up to the sound and came to the door in his 
underwear.  He identified himself and the ICE agents told him they were there to arrest him. 
GM’s wife and his 8- and 10-year-old children were home.  GM asked not to be handcuffed in 

 



front of the children and the agents agreed.  GM’s wife brought clothes to the door.  GM 
describes the raid as traumatic for the family because his wife and children saw what was 
happening and because of the public nature of the arrest. 
 
Story 122 (FOR):​ In late 2015, ICE went to a home in Bethlehem, PA. There were 4 men, 2 
women and FOR’s 3 year old autistic son in the home when agents detained FOR.  FOR’s 
partner reported that, immediately after the raid, FOR’s son -- who also has physical disabilities 
-- cried all night since his father was taken and has been displaying more aggressive behavior 
that she could not control. 
 
Story 123 (JAE):​ In November 2015, ICE agents went to JAE’s grandmother’s home in 
Brooklyn, NY around 6:30am.  JAE was in her pajamas and with her 5-year-old son.  The 
agents, wearing police attire, asked for her name and she identified herself.  They said they 
needed her for questioning and she asked for a warrant.  They replied that they did not have a 
warrant but that they just needed her for questioning.  She was convinced these were police 
arresting her and began crying, asking not to be handcuffed in front of her son who was in the 
room and within eyesight.  They told her to change out of her pajamas and brought her to their 
car without handcuffs where they finally revealed they were immigration authorities. 
 
Story 125 (MFA):​ In September 2015, MFA was taking his 12-year-old son and 12-year-old 
nephew to the laundromat in Brooklyn, NY to teach them how to do laundry.  Suddenly, one of 
6-8 officers present approached MFA and said, “you’re under arrest,” without identifying himself. 
As MFA tried to figure out who these officers were, his wife who had been watching from the 
window of the apartment building came down and took the two children away.  The family later 
learned that the officers were ICE agents.  
 
Story 154 (KLA):​ In November 2015, KLA escorted one of his 6 children -- a son with special 
needs -- to the school bus in front of his home in the Bronx, NY.  As soon as he put his son on 
the bus, ICE agents appeared and detained him for removal proceedings. 
 
Story 160 (PHO):​ In late 2015, 3 ICE agents entered a home in Queens, NY before 8am, 
claiming they were police and looking for someone who no longer lived there.  When the current 
residents refused entry, the agents kicked down the door, forcing their way in.  The agents 
handcuffed the male tenant and began searching the home.  There were 2 children sleeping in 
the bedroom and ICE agents entered the room, searching under the bed and in the closets. 
 
Story 176 (LUG):​ In early 2015, ICE agents knocked loudly on the door of a home in Queens, 
NY before 6am.  They claimed they were police looking for a fugitive in the building.  Once 
inside, they immediately saw LUG sleeping in the living room, told him to get up and handcuffed 
him.  After detaining LUG, agents fingerprinted another relative using a machine, waiting 5-10 
minutes before reviewing the results and leaving.  Other family members were present, 
including an 8 year old child who was crying throughout the raid as he witnessed everything. 
 

 



Story 211 (MOJ): ​Early one morning in 2013, MOJ’s wife heard knocking on the door of their 
apartment in the Bronx, NY.  She opened it without thinking much of it.  Officers in bulletproof 
vests immediately pushed past her and ran into the house, with at least one agent holding his 
gun out of the holster.  As she tried to figure out what was happening, they said, “Ma’am, just sit 
down.”  MOJ was in the living room and agents stopped to speak to him.  Another agent went 
into the bedroom area where MOJ’s 9- and 11-year old children were crying.  The agent ordered 
the children back into their rooms, stayed at the bedroom doors, and would not let MOJ or his 
wife move to comfort them.  MOJ’s wife was hysterical and asked repeatedly, “What is this 
about?”  The officers would not respond to her.  The agents retrieved clothes and identification 
from MOJ’s dresser drawer and handcuffed him in the hallway, which is when they told him who 
they were.  MOJ was unable to say goodbye to his children before being detained.  The children 
were quiet, distant and shocked immediately after.  Both of his children experienced the event 
as traumatic.  MOJ’s son was diagnosed as having post-traumatic stress disorder after the raid 
and became fearful of the dark; had flashbacks involving police; and vividly remembers the 
terror of his mother’s screams as ICE took his father away.  
 
Story 220 (WDC): ​On March 22, 2016, WDC woke up to 6 ICE agents entering his apartment in 
New Orleans, LA.  They demanded his name and identification.  Despite explaining that he 
could get his passport from his car, they did not permit him to leave the apartment.  When he 
asked who they were looking for, the agents did not answer.  They surrounded him, forcefully 
grabbed his hand and fingerprinted him without his consent.  The agents began to search the 
apartment.  WDC feared they would scare his partner and son, especially as the officers started 
yelling at them.  When his partner asked him for the phone number of a local advocacy group 
(Congress of Day Laborers), an agent scoffed, "Another one of those people from the 
Congress."  They taunted him and laughed, promising, "We're going to deport you."  They 
moved quickly as his wife looked for the phone number, handcuffing him at his hands, waist and 
ankles in front of his son who was watching from the window.  
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Appendix C 

Press coverage on the human toll of raids.   

Select stories that have been in the press 
humanizing individuals who have been subject  
to ICE enforcement.

Contents
p. 1	 Julio Acosta

p. 2	 Alexander Lora 

p. 2	 Alvaro “Khalil” Cumberbatch

p. 3	 Reynold Garcia

p. 4	 Miscellaneous
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Julio Acosta
In January 2016, ICE agents showed up at Julio Cesar Acosta’s home in Long 

Island, NY and took him away from his family for driving under the influence 

of alcohol arrests from decades before the raid. His partner, Deysi, and their 

two small children, Jeffrey and Julio Jr., were left crying and inconsolable.  

Deysi, traumatized at seeing her world crumbling around her, gave birth early 

to their third son, Christopher, while Julio was in immigration detention.  

Make the Road NY led advocacy efforts for Julio and were able to secure his 

release from detention while he fights deportation.

—— Make the Road NY, “Don’t Deport Our Dad!” posted January 28, 2016: 

http://www.maketheroadaction.org/don_t_deport_our_dad

—— Voices of NY translation of El Diario NY article, Original by Zaira Cortes 

& Translation by K. Casiano, Drunk Driver Targeted by ICE For 

Deportation, February 11, 2016: https://voicesofny.org/2016/02/ice-

targets-drunk-drivers-for-deportation/  

(Original in Spanish: http://eldiariony.com/2016/02/04/conducir-ebrio-te-

convierte-en-blanco-de-deportacion/)

—— Make the Road NY, “Welcome home Julio! ¡Bienvenido a casa!”  

posted February 24, 2016: http://www.maketheroadaction.org/welcome_

home_julio

—— Voices of NY translation of El Diario NY article, Original by Juan Pablo 

Garnham & Translation by K. Casiano, Salvadoran Father Targeted 

by ICE Is Released, February 26, 2016: https://voicesofny.org/2016/02/

salvadoran-father-targeted-by-ice-is-released/  

(Original in Spanish: http://eldiariony.com/2016/02/26/pense-que-nunca-

mas-los-iba-a-ver/)
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Alexander Lora
In November 2013, ICE agents arrested Alexander Lora, a long-time lawful 

permanent resident, on the street in New York City.  He had agreed to meet, 

believing they were police.  They told him he would be deported for a single 

prior drug arrest for which he received no jail time, held in jail, and unable 

to apply for bond while his deportation proceedings were ongoing. While 

detained, Alexander learned that the mother of his child had tried to commit 

suicide, and his two-year-old son was placed in foster care since Alexander 

was in immigration jail.  Lawyers at Brooklyn Defender Services filed a habeas 

corpus petition in federal court and, with the NYU Immigrant Rights Clinic, 

argued that Alexander’s detention without bond was unconstitutional. The 

Second Circuit Court of Appeals agreed, issuing a groundbreaking decision 

that immigrants like Alexander are entitled to a bond hearing when their 

detention becomes prolonged. Rodriguez v. Jennings, a similar case from the 

Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, is currently on appeal to the U.S. Supreme 

Court and could result in nationwide due process protections for immigrants 

in prolonged detention.

—— City Limits, Batya Ungar-Sargon, Heavy Burdens and Unfair Fights in 

Immigration Courts, December 17, 2015: http://citylimits.org/2015/12/17/

heavy-burdens-and-unfair-fights-in-immigration-courts/

—— City Limits, Batya Ungar-Sargon, Immigrants’ Fates Depend on 

Access to Lawyers, December 17, 2015: http://citylimits.org/2015/12/17/

immigrants-fates-depend-on-access-to-lawyers/

Alvaro “Khalil” Cumberbatch
In May 2014, Khalil Cumberbatch was snatched by ICE agents from his  

home in Queens, NY in front of his wife and children for a crime he committed 

over a decade prior to the raid.  Since being released from prison, Khalil 

embodied commitment to community and family but nonetheless was 

detained for months before DHS agreed to close his case.  Shortly after release 

from immigration detention, Khalil received a pardon from New York State 
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Governor Andrew Cuomo.  Immigrant Defense Project (IDP) along with a 

broad coalition of people from the criminal reentry community, including 

Fortune Society and Legal Action Center, advocated on Khalil’s behalf and 

continue to work alongside him to stop the current system of perpetual 

punishment and mass deportation.

—— Fortune Society weekly newsletter, Khalil Cumberbatch, Previously 

Pardoned, He Advocates Expanded Use Of Pardons For Others,  

August 7, 2015: https://fortunesociety.org/2015/08/07/previously-

pardoned-he-advocates-expanded-use-of-pardons-for-others/

—— New York Daily News, Keri Blakinger, A look at sad reality of what 

happens when immigration meets criminal justice, March 29, 2016: 

http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/immigrants-prison-article-

1.2577579?cid=bitly

—— The Hill, Op-ed by Khalil Cumberbatch, For immigrants with 

convictions, punishment never ends, July 4, 2016: http://thehill.com/

blogs/congress-blog/judicial/286309-for-immigrants-with-convictions-

punishment-never-ends

—— New York Magazine, Interviews by James D. Walsh and Nick Tabor,  

New York Would Never Dream of Building a Wall, December 13, 2016: 

http://nymag.com/daily/intelligencer/2016/12/42-immigrant-new-yorkers-

on-living-in-a-sanctuary-city.html

Reynold Garcia
In 2016, Reynold Garcia was deported after Chicago, Illinois immigration 

agents lured him out of a church where he was praying by falsely claiming  

they were police reaching out about a relative that was in a car accident. One 

day before, Chicago immigration agents also raided his home, detaining Karen 

Margarito-Pineda, Mr. Garcia’s wife, and their two children. All four were 

almost immediately deported.  Chicago Religious Leadership Network 

(CRLN) and Organized Communities against Deportation (OCAD)  

advocated for Mr. Garcia and his family, including garnering the support  
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of Congresspeople who submitted a letter to DHS calling for a review of  

the tactic.

—— WBEZ News, Odette Yousef, Amid Deportation Push, Suburban  

Church Grapples with Loss, February 15, 2016: https://www.wbez.org/

shows/wbez-news/amid-deportation-push-suburban-church-grapples-

with-loss/3d269fc3-04e7-4604-bae4-a376a37410c9

—— VICE News, Meredith Hoffman, US Immigration Sting on Church 

Breaks with Policy on ‘Sensitive Locations,’ February 17, 2016:  

https://news.vice.com/article/us-immigration-sting-on-church-breaks-

with-policy-on-sensitive-locations

—— ThinkProgress, Esther Yu Hsi Lee, ICE Agents Lure Undocumented 

Immigrant Out Of A Church Using Fake Text Messages, February 

17, 2016: https://thinkprogress.org/ice-agents-lure-undocumented-

immigrant-out-of-a-church-using-fake-text-messages-4e2a980fb7a3#.

xu8q823ln

—— WBEZ News, Odette Yousef, Lawmakers Call For Answers  

On ‘Deceptive’ Deportation, June 14, 2016: https://www.wbez.

org/shows/wbez-news/lawmakers-call-for-answers-on-deceptive-

deportation/5a91a690-939f-4369-90d4-d5c137980b6a
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Miscellaneous 

—— ThinkProgress, Esther Yu Hsi Lee, ICE Agent Allegedly Probed U.S. 

Citizen Child About ‘Inappropriate Touching’ During Surprise Visit, 

May 24, 2015: https://thinkprogress.org/ice-agent-allegedly-probed-u-

s-citizen-child-about-inappropriate-touching-during-surprise-visit-

d0a53a52d225#.g0g8nu4k2

—— ThinkProgress, Esther Yu Hsi Lee, This Is What A Deportation Raid Is 

Like, January 7, 2016: https://thinkprogress.org/this-is-what-a-deportation-

raid-is-like-98a9e2c6f5e7#.i6zq4jzbu

—— Huffington Post, Roque Planas, ICE Lied To Get Inside Immigrants’ 

Homes During Raids, Lawyers Say, January 11, 2016: http://www.

huffingtonpost.com/entry/ice-lied-to-get-inside-immigrants-homes-during-

raids-lawyers-say_us_56942592e4b086bc1cd4e03f

—— Common Dreams, Mizue Aizeki of Immigrant Defense Project, Immigration 

Raids Inhumane No Matter Who They Target, January 14, 2016: http://

www.commondreams.org/views/2016/01/14/immigration-raids-inhumane-

no-matter-who-they-target

—— New York Times, Mizue Aizeki of Immigrant Defense Project, Letter to the 

Editor re “A Shameful Roundup of Refugees” (editorial, Jan. 8), January 

14, 2016: http://www.nytimes.com/2016/01/15/opinion/as-refugees-flee-

violence-in-central-america.html

—— VICE News, Max Rivlin-Nadler, How the System Is Failing Central 

American Families Facing Deportation, January 15, 2016: https://www.vice.

com/en_us/article/how-the-system-is-failing-central-american-families-

facing-deportation  

—— NJ.com, Fausto Giovanny Pinto, Protesters denounce immigration raids 

in New Brunswick, January 31, 2016: http://www.nj.com/middlesex/index.

ssf/2016/01/protesters_denounce_immigration_raids_in_new_bruns.html
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—— The Indypendent, Alina Mogilyanskaya, Feds Carry Out Stealth Raids 

Against NYC Immigrants, February 2, 2016: https://indypendent.

org/2016/02/02/feds-carry-out-stealth-raids-against-nyc-immigrants

—— Durham, February 3, 2016: http://www.newsobserver.com/news/local/

counties/durham-county/article58256943.html

—— New York Times, Liz Robbins, Owner Was Target, but Restaurant Workers 

Are Swept Up in Immigration Raids, November 11, 2016:  

http://www.nytimes.com/2016/11/12/nyregion/immigration-workplace-raids-

buffalo.html

—— BuzzFeed News, David Noriega, Under Trump, Sanctuary Cities May Not 

Be So Safe, December 8, 2016: https://www.buzzfeed.com/davidnoriega/

the-lapd-says-it-wont-work-with-feds-on-deportations-but-it?utm_term=.

gdrm7G2rgr#.whL4a8NLGL (on joint task force collaboration between local 

law enforcement and ICE to conduct sweeping raids at homes)

—— Washington Post, Donna St. George, Schools warn of increased 

student fears due to immigration arrests, Trump election, December 

26, 2016: https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/education/schools-

warn-of-increased-student-fears-due-to-immigration-arrests-trump-

election/2016/12/26/a4b2b732-c0a7-11e6-b527-949c5893595e_story.html?utm_

term=.de44a36fe28f

—— New York Times, Amy Chozick, Raids of Illegal Immigrants Bring Harsh 

Memories, and Strong Fears, January 2, 2017: http://www.nytimes.

com/2017/01/02/us/illegal-immigrants-raids-deportation.html
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If you wish to reproduce this toolkit in its entirety or reproduce  

excerpts, please attribute to Immigrant Defense Project and the  

Center for Constitutional Rights. 

This toolkit was initially published on January 12, 2017 and  updated in July 

2017.

The information in this toolkit and our Know Your Rights information  

will be updated periodically, so please continue to visit  

http://www.immdefense.org/raids or sign up for our newsletter  

here:  http://www.immdefense.org/about/newsletter/

Please direct any inquiries to KYR@immdefense.org
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